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British Airways Plc

Directors’ report and business review

The Directors present their annual repart and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 The comparative results, as
presented in the Group financial statements, are the published financial statements for the nine months ended 31 December 2010

Business review

Bntish Airways (‘BA’ or ‘the Group) 1s the LIK's largest international scheduled arrhine and one of the world’s leading global premium airhnes The
Group's pnncipal place of business 1s London with significant presence at Heathrow, Gatwick and London City Airports  BA also operates a
worldwide air cargo business, largely in conjunction with its scheduled passenger services Operating one of the most extensive international
scheduled airine route networks, together with its joint business agreement, code share and franchise partners, BA flies to more than 400
destinations worldwide BA's wision is to be the most admired airine across the world's key cittes.

The business review I1s presented in the following three sections
+  Management review,
. Financial review, and
+ Internal controls and risk management.

Management review

it has been a difficult few years for the aviation industry, 2011 was no exception with significant increases in fuel prices against the backdrop of a
sluggish global economic recovery BA has not been immune from the external factors affecting the aviation industry, but the Group has spent much
of 2011 delivering strong financial and operational performance as well as establishing solid foundations for a bright future

A merger between Britsh Awrways Plc {'the Company’) and Iberia Lineas Aéreas de Espafia S A (Iberia’) completed on 21 January 2011 As a result of
the merger, International Consolidated Asrlines Group S A (1AG'} was formed to hold the interests of both existing airline groups  1AG started trading
on the London Stock Exchange and in Spain, on 24 January 2011 On the same date |AG became the ulumate parent of the Company BA and lberia
retain separate Boards of Directors and Leadership (key directorate heads) Teams, and retain responsibility for day-to-day operations 1AG1s
charged with the overall dwection, strategy and management of the combined business

Qutstanding service and customer insight

Running a robust operation 15 key to meeting customer expectations and 15 a dnver of customer satisfacton  The Group delivered strong operationai
performance during 2011, with record levels of punctuality and baggage performance achieved across BA's global network.

BA's colleagues have long been passionate about delivening outstanding customer service. Duning 2011 the Group brought a new dimension into this
by introducing IPads for Cabin Service Directors, heightening the personalised service BA 15 able 1o offer Further investments in new technology and
process smplificauon will be made to improve the customer expenence both on the ground and online

T5¢, a new satellite of Terrminal 5 opened in May 2011 This has proved a great success and from 2013 will become home to BA's new Airbus A380
superjumbo fleet

Investing selectively in the product

BA's product investment programmae continued with significant refits to the Boeing 767 and Boeing 777-200 fleets getting under way There were
alse enhancements to Club World and World Traveller Plus catenng and further lounge refurbishments

BA has continued to develop 1ts ground operations with the opening of the new state-of-the-art check-in area at Gatwick Airport’s North Terminal
This spacious facility uses the most advanced technology to give customers more control of their airport experience

Passion and belief in the BA brand

September 2011 saw the launch of BA's biggest brand campaign in a decade, reaffirming the Group's promise “To Fly Teo Serve”, and underpinning
investments in product and training. BA was recognised as the most improved brand of 2011 in the YouGov brand index BA's role as official arrline
partner for the London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games will present the Group with opportunities for further brand strengthening

Growing revenue through airline partnerships and commercial innovation

As the airhne industry consolidates, strategic partnerships are key to the future success of BA This is particularly true in the compeutive and valuable
North Atlantic market where the Joint Busmess Agreement with Amencan Airines and bena has made an impressive start Since the launch of the
Jont Business in October 2010, transatlanuc customers have been benefiting from improved choice, service and network options. Members of all
three frequent flier programmes are increasingly inchned to travel on their partner airhines thereby enjoying a wider range of departure times Durnng
2011 combined transatlantic revenues grew to just over $8 bithon with market share growing both i the premwum and non-premium segments At the
same time umit revenues grew strongly and year one benefits were ahead of expectations.
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Management review continued

Where appropriate BA will continue to seek to deepen other partnerships through the extension of codeshare relationships and the development of
Joint businesses BA conunues to be committed to the future development of the oneworld alliance [t has sponsored the imtroduction of the
Russian ahne, 57, and arberiin

In September 2011, the Executive Club programme was relaunched with the introduction of Avios, the new IAG reward currency This exciging

innovaton, possible as the result of the merger, features a senes of enhancements designed 1o give customers Increased recognition, iImproved
service and more rewards

Aurcraft, technology and infrastructure .

Without a modern fleet, a balanced global network, efficient technology and the correct infrastructure in place, the Group's growth plans would be
restricted Duning 2011 BA introduced new Boeing 777-300 and Embraer E190 aircraft, as well as some replacement Airbus A320 arcraft into the
fleet. Two new aircraft types, the Awbus A380 and Boeing 787 Dreamiiner, will be delivered between 2013 and 2017 These form part of the £5
bilion that the Group plans to invest over the next five years

BA continues to be concerned about discussions within the UK about how the country 15 going to develop a coherent long term aviation strategy,
following the decision in 2010 to halt plans for a third runway at Heathrow While the Government begins to evaluate a range of options, many hub
competitors around the world continue to invest heavily in their airport and runway infrastructure Heathrow's position in the international league
table of hub airportis 1s at nisk.

Competitive cost base

BA needs tc ensure it has the financial strength and resihence to support the planned investment programme The Group's biggest single cost
continues to be fuel, accounting for around one third of the Group's total costs Given the sustained high pnice of fuel, BA's focus on controllable
costs becomes even more imperative BA achieved structural change in its cost base in recent years, and efforts continue wath suppliers to establsh
long-term relationships which also deliver the best possible value for money

IAG has commutted to deliver €400 million in synergies across the combined business within five years Significant progress has been made on
synergy delivery dunng 2011 Along with corresponding work at Iberia, this has led to an upward revision of the IAG target to €500 milion

Setting the standard for responsible aviation

BA has led the industry in adopting a responsible approach to the environmental impact of aviauon  This 1s not only imperative for the environment,
but is the night financial approach when faced with high fuel costs, and an increasingly impartant consideration for BA's customers The Group's
approach s threefold, reducing net carbon emissions by 50 per cent by 2050, campaigning for a single, appropnate and competitively nen-distorting
regulatory regime and minimising local community effects from air quahity and noise

BA 1s working to estabhish Europe's first sustainable bio-jet plant with LIS energy company Solena, which will power some of BA's ptanes from 2015
In addition, BA 15 working on an alternative fuel testing programme in partnership with Rolls-Royce as well as investing in new aircraft that praoduce
30 per cent tess carbon emissions than the aircraft they will replace

Culture and capabilities for success
For BA to achieve 1ts strategic vision, it 1s heavily reliant on colleagues working as one team to deliver outstanding customer service and business

performance A comprehensive people strategy has been developed that will transform the way colleagues are led, developed, rewarded and
engaged

in May 2011, BA reached a settlement wath Unite in the long-running dispute over cabin crew issues, This agreement allowed the Group to make
essential structural changes and support future growth

BA launched its future pilots programme n July 2011, which is the Group's largest pilot recruitment programme in ten years The Group aims to
recruit 800 new pilots by 2016 in preparation for the delivery of its next generation aircraft More than 1,500 cabin crew were recrurted at Heathrow
during the perniod, working to a new set of rosters which serve a mixture of longhaul and shorthaul destinations  The Group also continues to run a
wide range of apprenuceships and graduate recruitment schemes in areas such as engineering, ground operations, cargo and head office

Qutlook

A binding agreement for BA to acquire Brish Midiand Limited ('bmiY) at a cost of £172.5 mullion was announced on 22 December 2011, subject to
regulatory approval Consolidation offers BA and IAG the opportunity to expand, deliver synergies and provide major improvements for customers

The Group's growth 1s hampered by the continued nses in Ar Passenger Duty (APD) The decision to increase APD on 1 April 2012 resulted 1n a
reduction in the Group's growth plans in 2012 and continues to cost jobs in the UK The UK has by far the highest aviation taxes in the world and
this, coupled with the decision not to wvest In airport infrastructure, creates a umiquely damaging constraint for UK-based operators.

Preparation for the arnval of BA's new Boeing 787 and Airbus A380 aircraft in 2013 will be accelerated This will include provision of enhanced IT, a
significant programme of operational traiming and development with BAA of Heathrow's infrastructure
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Financial review

As a consequence of the merger the accounting reference date was changed dunng 2010, from 31 March to 31 December The Group's financiat
statements presented on pages 14 to 80 summarise the 12 months to 31 December 2011, with comparative results for the nine months to 31
December 2010

In order to provide more meamingful companson, the financial review focuses on a compansen of the 12 months to 31 December 2011 with the same
penod in the pror year

Summary financial performance

£ million 201 2010 Better/ (worse) 2010

12 months 12 months % Nine months
Passenger revenue 8,721 7,454 170 5831
Total revenue 9,987 8537 170 6,683
Operating profit 518 197 nm 342
Profit/{loss) before tax 679 (32) nm 157
Profit/(loss) after tax 672 (10) nm 170

am = not meaningful

2011 2010 Better/ (worse) 2010

12 months 12 months Nine months

Avallable seat kilometres (ASK) {m) 150,152 136,721 98% 104,415
Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK) (m} 117,348 106,082 106% 81,571
Passenger load factor (%) 782 776 06 pts 785
Passenger revenue per RPK (p) 743 703 57% 71
Passenger revenue per ASK (p) 58 545 6 6% 558
Non-fuel umt costs per ASK (p) 414 432 42% 428

Revenue

Revenue for the year was £9,987 milion, up 17 0 per cent over the previous year This included a 17 O per cent growth in passenger revenue and an
8 8 per cent growth in cargo revenue

Passenger revenue was up by £1,267 million, despite a challenging economic environment The Group Increased the amount of flying in the year, with
capacity (measured by available seat kilometres) growing 9 8 per cent. Passenger yields improved year on year, up 57 per cent. The Group also
benefited from not having significant disruption 1 2011 as expernenced dunng 2010

The Group's cargo revenue grew by £60 million as a result of the impact of increased demand, strong premium product yields and higher levels of
fuel surcharges, as the price of oil increased
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Financial review continued

Operating costs
£ million 2011 2010 Better/ (worse) 2010
12 months 12 months Yo Nine months
Employee costs 2,153 2,022 65 1547
Restructuring 12 29 536 6
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 683 758 99 570
Aurcraft operating lease costs - 73 68 74) st
Fuel and oll costs 3,246 2,428 (337) 1869
Engineering and other arcraft costs 543 545 04 412
Landing fees and en route charges 691 605 (142) 464
Handhng charges, catening and other operating costs 1,052 990 63) 765
Selling costs 436 315 {38 4) 235
Currency differences 13 nm m
Accommodation, ground equipment and |T costs 567 580 22 423
Total Group expenditure on operations 9,469 8,340 (13 5) 6,341
Total Group expenditure excluding fuel 6,223 5,912 (53) 4,472

nm = not meaningful
Fuel costs topped £3 billion during the year as the price of ol continued to (ncrease, up 337 per cent year on year

The Group continued to drive down its cost base during 2011 Non-fuel unit costs {total expenditure excluding fuel per ASK) fell by 4 2 per cent The
merger with Ibena 1s on track to deliver substantial synergies, and |AG increased its target to €500 million by year five

Non-operating income and expenditure

Pensions financing income was £160 million for the year, compared to a financing expense of £15 million in the prior year In 2011 there were lower
interest costs on scheme habiliies, higher expected returns on scheme assets, the effect of the asset celling and a significant reduction in the
amortisation of actuanal losses in excess of the corndor

During the financial year to 31 March 2010, BA 1ssued a £350 million fixed rate 5 8 per cent converuble bond Under the terms of the merger, the
bondholders are now ehgible to convert thewr bonds Into ordinary shares of IAG  As a result, the equity portion of the Group's convertible bond was
reclassified during 2011 to a denvative financial iablity  This denvative liability is revalued at each balance sheet date, which resulted tn a credit of
£169 million in the year to 31 December 2011

Taxation

The tax charge for the year ended 31 December 2011 was £7 million  This consists of a current tax charge of £8 million and a deferred tax credit of
£1 mifhon

The tax charge included a £72 mulion credit through the iIncome statement due to tegislation enacted during the year reducing the main rate of
corporation tax from 27 per cent to 25 per cent from 1 April 2012, non-taxable gains of £169 milhon (tax effect £45 midlion} ansing from accounting
for the convertible bond, £61 rmullion due to the effect of IFRIC 14 pension accounting and a credit of £14 million relating to prior year adjustrments to
the tax charge Excluding these items the effective tax rate for the year was 29 per cent.

The deferred tax balance at 31 December 2011 was £778 milion The year on year movement was pnmarily related to the tax effect of the uulisation
of trading losses brought forward by BA and pension funding temporary differences offset by the reversal of temporary differences on fixed assets
and the corporation tax rate reductions

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure in the year amounted to £769 millon  This compnsed £643 million fleet related spend (arcraft, spares, modifications and
refurbishments, net of refund of progress payments), £59 milhon on property and equipment and £67 million on landing rights and other mtangible
assets During the penod the Group took delivery of three Awrbus A320 aircraft, two Boeing 777-300 awrcraft and two Embraer E190 aircraft.

Liquidity

The Group’s hquidity position remains strong with over £18 bilhon of cash and cash equivalents In addiucn, the Group had undrawn long-term
committed aircraft financing fachves totalling £1,265 million, further commtted general facihities of £377 milhion, unused overdraft facilities of £10
million and undrawn uncommutied money market ines of £25 milllon Note 22 to the financial statements provides detalled analysis and explanation
of the cash flow position Capital expenditure commitments are outlined in note 13 to the financial statements.
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Internal control and risk management

Corporate Governance

Since 21 January 2011, the Company is ne lenger required to comply with the Combined Code However, as the Company remains an issuer of debt,
it will remarn subject to certain prowisions of the Companies Act 2006, Lisung Rules and Disclosure and Transparency Rules |n order to comply with
these provisions, certain information about the Company's corporate governance 1s detalled in this report.

Internal control over financial reporting

The Group has in place internal control and nsk management systems in relation to the Group's financial reporting process and the Group's process
for the preparation of conscldated accounts During the year, no changes in risk management and internal control systems over financial reporting
have occurred that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to have matenally affected, the Group's financial reporting

Internal control framework
Effective Corporate Governance remains key to the business The Group continues to review its internal control framework to ensure it maintams a

strong and effective internal control environment During the reporting period, the effectiveness of the framework was regularly reviewed by the
Leadership Team

Business controls are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the internal control function which operates internationally, and to a programme based on nisk
assessment. Professionally qualified personnel manage the department with expenience gained from both inside and outside the industry A risk-
based audit plan, which provides assurance over key business praocesses and commercial and financial nisks facing the Group, was approved by the
1AG Audnt Committee quarterly

The BA Board considered sigmficant control matters raised by management and both the internal and external auditors and they reported their
findings to the 1AG Audit Committee Where weaknesses were identified, the BA Board ensured that management took appropriate action No
significant failings or weaknesses were denufied during 2011

Risk management

The Group has a structure and process to help identify, assess and manage risks  This process has been in place throughout the reporting penod to
which these statements apply and up to the date of their approval

During the year, the Risk Group consisted of the Leadership Team, the Head of Corporate Risk and Comphance and key semor executives. Meeting
quarterly, it reviews the Group's key nisks contained in the corporate nisk register and ensures that all new and emerging risks are appropnately

evaluated and any further actions identified The Risk Group also provides policy and guidance to those responsible for managing the individual nsks
and to the departmental risk leaders

The management of each major area of corporate risk is subject to review by an appropriate ‘assurance body” This includes a review of the controls
in place to mitigate the risks and the further actions being taken by management. The Risk Group reported quarterly to the BA Board to assist the BA
Board in the management of nsk in accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (2010}

The risk management process includes multiple opportunities for rigorous discussion and debate to assess the relative profile of each nsk to the
other The outcome includes a heat map This plots each critical nisk on an impact and probability scale For each crical risk, mitigating actions exist
and are actively managed This process is iterative and refreshed on an ongoing basis This report does not include the mapped results and mitigating
acuons for the principal nsks because of the sensitive commercial nature of some of management's plans

Financial risk management objectives, policies and procedures

The Group 15 exposed to a vanety of financial nsks, including market risk, credit risk, capital risk and hquidity nsk, The overall nsk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on financial performance

The BA Board approves prudent treasury policies and delegates certain responsibilities to senior management who directly control day to day
treasury operations on a centralised basis and operate within clearly defined parameters

The financial nsks faced by the Group are covered in more detail In note 28 to the financial statements

Principal risks and uncertainties

The highly regulated and commercially competitive environment, together with operational complexity, leaves the Group exposed to a humber of
significant risks  The focus remains on mitigating these nisks at all levels

The Directors of the Group believe that the risks and uncertainties described below are the ones that may have the most significant impact on the
long-term value of BA. The list presented 1s not intended te be exhaustive The Group carries out detalled nsk management reviews to ensure that
the risks are mMibigated where possible
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Internal control and risk management continued

Strategic

Competition

The markets in which the Group operates are highly competitive Direct competition is faced from other arrlines on routes, as well as from indirect
fhghts, charter services and from other modes of transport Some compeutors have cost structures that are lower than BA or have other
compettive advantages such as being supported by government intervention or benefiting from insolvency protection Fare discounting by some
competitors has histoncally had a negative effect on the Group's results because a response 1s generally required to compeutors’ fares to maintain
passenger traffic The Group's strong global market positioning, leadership in strategic markets, aliances and diverse customer base continues to
address this risk

Consoldation and deregulation

As noted above the airhne market is fiercely competitive and will need to continue to rationalise given the current market conditions This will
involve further arlime faillures and consolidation leading to opportunities to capture market share and expand the group Mergers and acquisitions
amongst competitors have the potential to adversely affect market position and revenue

The merger with Ibena and the Joint Business Agreement with American Airlines and |bena for transatlantic routes includes delivery risks such as
realising planned revenue and cost synergies The delivery of synergies is inherently subject to revenue leakage and programme management risks
The Leadership Team have robust integration and Jomt Business Agreement programmes which address these nsks Any additional consohdation by
the Group, such as bmi, adds to existing integration risks, including delivering value from the transactions

The airline industry 1s increasingly dependent on allances and BA 13 no exceprion to this Maintamning a leading presence m oneworld and ensurning
the alhance itself performs as expected by the members 15 key in safeguarding the network

Some of the markets in which the Group operates remain reguiated by governments, in some instances controlling capacity and/or restricting market
entry Relaxation of such restrictions, whilst creating growth opportumties for the Company, may have a negative impact on margins

Government intervention
Regulation of the arline industry 1s increasing and covers many of the Group's activities including safety, secunty, route flying nghts, arrport slat

access, and environmental controls  The ability to both comply with and influence any changes in these regulations is key to maimtaining operational
and financial performance

Continued plans by the UK Government to significantly increase Air Passenger Duty, at the same time as the commencement of the European Unian
Emissions Trading Scheme, coupled with the potential for other environmental taxes imposed in other jurisdictions, may have an adverse impact
upoen demangd for air travel and/or reduce the profit margin per ticket These taxes may also benefit BA's competitors by reducing the relative cost
of downg business from their respective hubs

Infrastructure constramts
Heathrow has no spare runway capacity and has operated on the same two main runways since it opened over 6Q years ago As a result, the Group is
vulnerable to short-term operational disruption and there s little that can be done to mitigate this  BA continues to promote the expansion of the

arpart to create extra capacity and reduce delays, enabling Heathrow to compete more effectively against European hubs such as Pans, Amsterdam
and Frankfurt

Business and operational

Brand reputation

BA's brand has significant commercial value Erosion of the brand, through either a single event, or series of events, may adversely impact the
Company's leadership position with customers and could ultimately affect future revenue and profitabiity The Leadership Team regularly monitors
customer satisfaction through the global monthly Think Customer Survey, alongside ongoing research and development of the BA product, in order
to mitigate this nsk BA has committed to substantial nvestment in on-board product and new aircraft to maintain its leadership position

Economuc conditions
The Group's revenue is highly sensitive to econamic conditions in the markets eperated In Detenoration in esther the domestic and/or global

economy may have a material impact on the reported financial position The Eurozone fiscal cnisis increases the nsk to economic condstions and
stability

The operational complexities inherent in the Group's business, together with the highly regulated and commercially competivve environment of the
airhne industry, leave the Group exposed to a number of significant nsks A focus on mitigating those nisks has been maintained although many
remain outside of the Groups control - for example changes in governmental regulation, acts of terrorism, adverse weather, pandemics and the
avallability of funding from the financial markets

The Revenue Projection Group regularly reviews the Group's revenue forecast The results of these reviews are discussed with management and the
appropnate action taken

Employee relations
BA has a large unionised workforce Collective bargaining takes place on a regular basis and a breakdown in the bargaiming pracess may disrupt
operations and adversely affect business performance
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Internal control and risk management continued

Failure of a cntical IT system
The Group i1s dependent on IT systems for most of the principal business processes The failure of a key system may cause significant disruption to

operations and/or result in lost revenue System controls, disaster recovery and business continuity arrangements exist to mitigate the nsk of a
criucal system failure

Pandemic
If there 15 a significant cutbreak of swine flu or other 1nfectious disease, staff absence will increase which may senously impact the operauon Key
corporate chents may discourage travel, significantly impacting sales Duning the swine flu pandemic the business continuity plan was implemented

Landing fees and security charges
Under the Airports Act 1986 the CAA has to set price caps on arrport charges generally every five years at airports designated by the Secretary of
State Heathrow and Gatwick are currently designated arports  There 15 a nisk that charges and development plans agreed during the ongoing review

significantly mcrease the cost of operating at the London hubs, or commit to future infrastructure investment in a way that benefits other airport
users ahead of the Group's interests

Safety/secunty incident
The safety and secunty of customers and employees are fundamental values for BA. Failure to prevent or respond effectively to a major safety or

security incident may adversely impact operations and financial performance The Operations Control Incident Centre responds in a structured way
in the event of an inaident.

Event causing stgmficant network disruption

Several possible events may cause a significant network disruption  Example scenanos include a major fallure of the public transport system, the
complete or partial loss of the use of terminals at Heathrow, adverse weather conditions (such as snow, fog or volcanic ash), widespread or
coordinated arr traffic control industrial action, war, civil unrest or terrorism  Such a disruption may resu't in lost revenue and additional cost
Management has robust business continuity plans to mitigate these nsks to the extent feasible

Key suppler risk

The Group I1s dependent on supphers for some principal business processes The fallure of a key supplier to deliver contractual obligations may
cause significant disruption to operations A close relationship 1s maintained with key suppliers in order to ensure awareness of any potential supply
chain disruption A conttnuous monitering system of key suppliers has been implemented through the development of a supplier nsk application

Financial

Debt funding

The Group carnes substantial debt that needs to be repaid or refinanced The ability to finance ongoing operations, committed aircraft orders and
future fleet growth plans are vulnerable to various factors including financial market conditions and financial institutions’ appetite for secured aircraft
financing The Finance Commuttee regularly reviews the Group's financial position and seeks to diversify the sources of funding utilised by the Group

Fuel price, currency and interest rate fluctuation
The Group used approximately 55 milhon tonnes of jet fuel in 2011 Volaulity in the price of o1l and petroleumn products can have a matenal impact

on the Group's operating results This price risk 1s partially hedged through the purchase of ail denvatives in forward markets, which can generate a
profit or a loss

The Group 1s exposed to currency nsk on revenue, purchases and borrowings in foreign currencies The Group seeks to reduce foreign exchange
exposures ansing from transacuions in vanous currencies through a pohicy of matching, as far as possible, receipts and payments n each individual
currency and selling the surplus or buying the shortfall of its currency obligations

The Group 1s exposed to non-performance of financial contracts by counterparties, for actmties such as money market deposits, fuel and currency
hedging Falure of counterparties may result in financial losses  The approach te risk management 1s set out in note 28 of the financial statements

The Group's Hedging Committee regutarly reviews the Group's fuel and currency positions The resuits of these reviews are discussed with
management and the appropnate action taken

Pensions

Negative movements in pension asset values and financial returns from these assets may increase the size of the pension deficit  Management
regularly review the status of the pension funds and remain committed to appropnate action

Compliance and regulatory

Governance

The governance structure of the IAG Group (BA's parent company) put in place at the time of the merger between BA and Ibenia has a number of
complex features, including naticnality structures to protect BA and lberia’s route and operating licenses and assurances to preserve the specific
interests of those companies Although complex, the structure worked well dunng 2011 and synergy targets have been exceeded

Comphance with Competition, Bribery and Corruption Law

The Group 1s exposed to the nisk of individual employee's or groups of employee’s unethical behaviour resulting in fines or losses to the Group The
Group has comprehensive pohicies and trainmg schemes in place to educate colleagues
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Directors’ report

Prnincipal Activities
The main activities of British Airways Plc (‘BA") and its subsidiary undertakings (the ‘Group’) are the operation of international and dormestic scheduled
air services for the carnage of passengers, freight and mail and the prowision of ancillary services

A review of the Group's business and future developments 15 detalled further on pages 2 to 3 of the business review

Results and Dyvidends

The operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 amounted to £518 million (mine months ended 31 December 2010 £342 mithon) The
Board has decided not to recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011 {(nine months ended 31
December 2010 Eml)

Directors
The Directors who served during the year and since the year end are as follows.

Sir Martin Broughton

Alison Reed

Keith Willams

Nick Swift appointed 20 June 2011
Andrew Crawley appointed 21 January 2011
Frank van der Post appointed 17 January 201
Enrique Dupuy de Léme appointed 21 January 2011
Rafael Sénchez-Lozano Turmo

Ken Smart

Gavin Patterson appointed 1 February 2011
Wilie Walsh resigned 21 January 2011
Baroness Kingsmill resigned 21 January 2011
Baroness Symons resigned 21 January 2011
Jim Lawrence resigned 21 January 2011
Maarten van den Bergh resigned 21 January 2011

Company secretary
Alan Buchanan served as the company secretary throughout the year

Employment polhicies

The employment policies in place 2im to balance rights of employees and the responsibilities of the Company in arder to drive the Group's business
farward The policies are regularly reviewed and updated with input from colleagues The overall aim 1$ to have policies that are farr, legally
compliant, cost effective and that empower line managers

The Group continues to drive genuine and effective engagement with colleagues to put the customer at the forefront of everything it does and to
maintain a high performing organisation The Group's objective 1s to have involved colleagues, with deep knowledge of their customers, who are
empowered to serve their needs proactively

There 15 a framework in place for consultation with colleagues, through direct engagement as well as collective bargaining, enabling everyone to have
an open and honest diatogue with the Company Regular briefings are run across the airhne and other commun:cation channels include hive on-line
forums, a personahised intranet, mobile SMS messaging, video messages and a range of Group wideyand local newsletters

The Group 15 committed to delvering competitive packages that reward colleagues for their performance and contribution to the business and
allows 1t 1o attract, retain and grow existing and future talent BA encourages the involvement of employees in the Company’s performance through
the employee bonus scheme and the IAG Group share schemes for eligible employees
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Directors’ report continued

As a responsible Company, disability 1s taken very seriously and applications are welcomed from indwiduals with disabilities The Group aims to
employ the most talented people and thus has procedures in place tc ensure that individuals with disabilities are supported in reaching their full
potenual by making reasonable adjustments for them in the workplace If such adjustments cannot be made for any reason, an alternative suitable
role and re-training will be considered through our Careernk redeployment service  Training for employees 1s increasingly provided on-line and
accessibility to e-learning is constantly reviewed All front ine employees are trained in disability awareness to increase their knowledge about
disabled colleagues and customers

Diversity and inclusion 15 integrally finked to the Group's values and ensuning that the customer Is at the heart of everything that it does The Group
aims to harness different perspectives, views and beliefs to create an inspirational and rnnovative place to work Mandatory training on diversity and
inciusion principles, and how to avoid discrimination, continues for all coleagues and managers

Suppliers

The Group continues to mantan supplier and creditor payment performance around the target of 80 per cent paid in accordance with mutually
agreed terms The number of days' purchases in creditors at 31 December 201115 calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
2006 and was 38 days (2010 36 days)

Political Donations

The Group does not make political denations or incur pohtical expenditure and has no intenuon of doing so  The amount of political donations made
during the year to 31 December 2011 was Endf (nine months ended 31 December 2010 Enil)

Community Investment
Chantable donations by the Group amounted to £5 1 milion (nine months ended 31 December 2010 £08 millign)

During 2011, the Group worked with 56 community and conservation organisations (nine months ended 31 December 2010 75) There is also an
extensive education programme for children and young people at the Community Learning Centre at Heathrow, with the number of visitors to the
centre reaching 69,343 since 1t opened (n 1999 (2010 63,376) The Flying Start partnership with Comic Rehef raised £1,946,596 during the year (six
months ended 31 December 2010 £335,000, the partnership commenced in July 2010)

The Group continues to be a member of both the London Benchmarking Group (LBG) and Business i the Community The LBG's model s used to
assess our total contribution to the community Some 3,138 current and retred colleagues donated to chanty through the payroll giving scheme in
the 12 months ended 31 December 2011 {mne months ended 31 December 2010 3,269}, raising over £591,819 for the Group's chosen charities (nine
months ended 31 December 2010 £445824) The top three charities were Highflight, which 1s a charity for young people with disabiities who want
to learn to fly or have a flight expenence, Cancer Research UK and Sreepur Village, Bangladesh, a project for abandoned women and children

Internal controls and nisk management

Detalls of the Group's internal control and sk management policies can be found on page 6 1n the internal control and sk management sectien of
the business review

Principal nsks and uncertainties
The Group’s principal nsks and uncertainties are set out on pages 6 to 8 in the nternal control and nsk management section of the business review

Overseas branches

The Group flies to a number of destinations around the world In addition to the overseas branches established in many of these countries, there are
also branches in countries to which BA does not fly A full list of destinations can be found on the website www.ba.com.

Gotng Concern
The business activities, performance, strategy and risks of the Group are set out i this report. The financial position of the Group, including cash

flows, hquidity position and available committed facilities are discussed in the financial review on pages 4 to 5, and further information Is provided in
note 2 of the financial statements

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group has adequate resources to continue operating
for the foreseeable future For this reason, the going concern basis has been adopted i preparing the accounts

Subsequent events

On 22 December 2013, the Company entered inte a binding agreement with Deutsche Lufthansa AG (Lufthansa') for the acquisiion of the shares of
Bntish Midland Limited {'bmi’} for consideraton of £1725 milllon Under the agreement £60 milon of the purchase price will be paid in four
nstalments to Lufthansa pre-completion At 31 December 2011 one instalment of £15 milhon has been pad, with the remaiming three instalments
totalling £45 milion disclosed within capital commitments

The acquisition 15 expected to complete during the first half of 2012, subject to regulatory clearance from the European Commission and other
bodies Under the terms of the agreement the Company is hiable to pay a termination fee of E10 muflion if phase one EU regulatory approval 1s not
achieved by 31 March 2012, and if either party elects to terminate the agreement
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Directors’ report continued

Directors’ and Officers’ hability insurance and indemnities
The Company purchased insurance against Directors’ and Officers’ hability as permitted by the Companies Act 2006 for the benefit of the Directors
and Officers Since 21 January 2011, IAG has held an equivatent policy covenng the IAG Group

The Company has granted rolling indemnities to the Chairman, the Executive and the external Nan-executive Directors and the Secretary, uncapped
in amount but subject to applicable law, in relation to certain losses and habibities which they may incur in the course of acting as officers of
companies within the Group These indemnities also set out the terms on which the Company may, in its discretion, advance defence costs The
indemnnities were in force during the whole of the financial year or from the date of appointment i respect of Directors who joined the Board durning
201 and remain in force

The Company has granted qualifying pension scheme indemnties in the form perrmitted by the Compames Act 2006 to the Directors of two
companies, British Airways Pension Trustees Limited and Briush Airways Pension Trustees (No 2} Limited, that act as trustees of the Company's UK
pension schemes These indemnities were in force throughout the last financial year or from the date of appointment in respect of Directors who
joined the Board during 2011 and remain in force

Auditors
In accordance with Section 489 Companies Act 2006, resolutions concerning the re-appointment of the auditor, Emst & Young LLP and authonsing
the Directors to set their remuneration will be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to the auditor
The Directors who are members of the Board at the time of approving the Directors’ report and business review are listed above Having made
enquines of fellow Directors and of the Group's auditor, each of these Directors confirms that.

=  To the best of each director’s knowledge and belief there s no information relevant to the preparauon of the auditor's report of which the
Group's auditor 1s unaware, and

*  Each director has taken all the steps a director might reasonably be expected to have taken to make him or herself aware of relevant audit
information and to establish that the Group's auditor i1s aware of that information

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418(2) of the Companies Act 2006

Directors' responsibilities statement in relation to the financial statements

The Directors as listed are responstble for prepanng the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with apphcable UK law and those
Internatignal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements for each financial period, which present fairly the financial position of the Company and of
the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Company and of the Group for that penod In prepanng those financial statements,
the Directors are required to

= Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently, '
. Present information, including accounting pohcies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information,
s Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS 15 insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of
particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance, and
= State that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explaimed in the financial statements

The Directors as listed are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any tme, the financial
position of the Company and of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties In addition, the Directors are responsibie for the maintenance and integnity of the
corporate and financial information tncluded in the Company's website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other junsdictions '

1
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Directors’ responsibility statement pursuant to DTR 4
The Birectors as listed confirm that, to the best of each person’s knowledge

*  The Group and Company financial statements in this report, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, IFRIC
interpretation and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 apphicable to companies reporting under IFRS, give a true and fair view of the assets,
llabihpes, financial position and profit of the Group as a whele and of the Company, and

*  The management report contained in this repert includes a far review of the development and performance of the business and the position of
the Group as a whole and of the Company, together with a descrniption of the pnincipal nisks and uncertainues that they face

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

A Sfgrom

Alan Buchanan

Company Secretary

29 March 2012

Company registration number - 1777777
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Independent auditors’ report

We have audited the financial statements of Bntish Airways Plc for the year ended 31 December 2011 which compnise the Group consclidated
income statement, the Group statement of other comprehensive income, the Group and Parent Company balance sheets, the Group and Parent
Company cash flow statements, the Group and Parent Company statements of changes n equity and the related notes 1 to 37 The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable taw and Internattonal Financial Reporting Standards (JFRSs) as adopted by

the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied tn accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
2006

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 OQur audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report
and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and
the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, ar for the opimions we have formed

Respective respansibilities of Directors and avditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 12, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing {UIK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from matertal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting
policies are appropnate 1o the Group's and the Parent Company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we
read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report & Accounts to identify materal inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements |f we become aware of any apparent matenal misstaternents or inconsistencies we consider the implication for our report

Opimion on financial statements
In our opinion
+«  The financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 31 December 2011 and
of the Group's profit for the year then ended,
+  The Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
e«  The Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as
applied in accordance with the prowvisions of the Companies Act 2006, and
«  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our apinien
s  The information given in the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared s consistent with the
financral statements, and
o  Theinformation given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages six to eight in the Annual Report & Accounts with respect to

internal control and nsk management system in relation to financial reporting processes and about share capital structures 1s consistent with
the finanaial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following'
Under the Compamies Act 2006 we are required to report to you If, in our opinion
s Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us, or
«  The Parent Company financial statements are not i agreement with the accounung records and returns, or
¢  Certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
»  We have not received all the information and explanations we require for cur audit, or
+ A Corporate Governance Statement has not been prepared by the Company

/urquy P

Richard Wison (Senior statutory aud
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP,
Statutory auditor

London

29 March 2012
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Group consolidated income statement

Group
12 months to Nine months to
31 December 31 December
£ milhon Note 20N 2010
Traffic revenue
Passenger 8,72 5831
Cargo 739 531
9,460 6,362
QOther revenue 527 321
Revenue 3 9,987 5,683
Employee costs 6 2,153 1547
Restructuring 4 12 6
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4 633 570
Aurcraft operating lease costs 73 51
Fuel and oIl costs 3,246 1859
Engineenng and other aircraft costs 543 412
Landing fees and en route charges 691 464
Handling charges, catering and other operating costs 1,052 765
Selling costs 436 235
Currency differences 13 ¢/
Accommodation, ground equipment and IT costs 567 423
Total expenditure on operations 9,469 6,341
Operaung profit 4 518 342
Fuel dervatve losses {11 2
Finance costs 7 (161} (125)
Finance mcome 7 32 13
Net financing income/{expense) relating to pensions 7 160 49)
Retranslation credits/{charges) on currency borrawings 7 2 (12)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment and investments 3 (3) 3}
Share of post-tax {losses)/profits in associates accounted for using the equity method 17 (6) [
Revaluation of convertible bond derivative hiability 169
Nat charge relating to available-for-sale financial assets 9 (21) (18}
Profit before tax 579 157
Tax 10 N 13
Profit after tax 672 170
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 654 157
Non-controlling interest 18 3
672 170
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Statement of other comprehensive income

Group
12 months to Nine months to
31 December 31 December
£ milhion Note 201 2010
Net prafit for the penad 671 70
Other comprehensive income
Exchange losses 32 ()] (8}
Net {losses)/gains on cash flow hedges 32 29) &84
Impact of changes in substanuvely enacted tax rates 32 (4
Share of other movements in reserves of associates 17 lvi] 48
Net movement on available-for-sale financial assets 32 (13}
Total comprehensive income for the period (net of tax) 510 294
Attnbutable to
Equity holders of the parent 592 287
Non-controlling interest 18 13
610 294
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Balance sheets

Group Company
E muhon Note 2011 2010 201 2010
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment.
Fleet 12 5,765 5758 5.488 5491
Property 12 856 885 31 838
Equipment 12 207 221 193 2i4
6,828 6,564 6,492 6543
Intangibles
Goodwill 15 40 40
Landing nghts 15 242 209 15 187
Ermissions allowances 15 12 12
Software 15 53 37 52 35
347 256 279 217
Investments n subsidianes 17 2,304 2333
Investments in associates 17 232 244
Avarlable-for-sale financial assets 18 39 65 24 18
Employee benefit assets 33 1,100 575 1,100 575
Denvative financial instruments 29 6 19 6 9
Cther non-current assets 28 40 167 163
Total non-current assets 8,580 8,093 10,372 8868
Non-current assets held for sale 14 15 33 15 33
Current assets and receivables
Inventanes 19 139 28 137 26
Trade receivables 20 460 384 448 368
Qther current assets 21 273 260 409 377
Dernivative financial instruments 29 73 132 74 132
Qther current interest-beanng deposits 22 1,259 1173 1,242 Lis3
Cash and cash equivalents 22 570 779 530 753
1.829 1952 1,772 1906
Total current assets and receivables 2,774 2826 2,840 2879
Total assets 11,369 10,852 13,227 12780
Shareholders’ equity
Issued share capital 30 290 288 290 288
Share premium 937 237 937 937
Investment in own shares 3} 3}
Othar reserves 32 1,355 78 931 590
Total shareholders equity 2,582 2200 2,158 1812
Nen-controlling interasts 32 200 200
Total equity 2,782 2400 2,158 1812
Neon-current liabilities
Interest-bearing long-term borrowings 25 3,358 3406 3,596 3,737
Employee benefit abligations 33 232 219 226 21
Prowisions far deferred tax 10 778 788 733 751
Other provisions 27 179 164 170 139
Denvauve financial nstruments 29 62 4 62 4
Other long-term habiities 24 295 306 258 265
Tatal non-current habilsties 4,904 4977 5,045 5167
Current habilities
Current partion of long-term borrowings 25 385 457 384 456
Trade and other payables 23 317 2815 5,473 5103
Dervative financial nstruments 29 21 10 2 Hi
Current tax payable 12 10 6 ir
Short-term prowisions 27 148 283 139 280
Total current liabilities 3,683 32575 6,024 5861
Total equity apd liabilities 11,369 10952 13,227 12780

Nick Swift

29 Mard] 2012t :

Keith Wilhams
29 Mareh 2012
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Cash flow statements

Group Company
12 months to Nine months to 12 months to MNine months to
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
E milhon Note 2011 2000 2011 2010
Cash flow from operating actuvities
Operating profic 518 342 490 355
Depreciauon, amorusation and impairment 683 570 652 539
Operating cash flow before working capital changes 1,201 a1z 1,142 894
Movement in tnventones, trade and other recewvables {460Q) 2 {501) (62}
Maovement in trade and other payables and provisions 404 28} 438 [134}
Payments in respect of restructuring {11) (14} (1) {14}
Payments in settlement of competiuon mnvesugation {147 (3 (147) 3
Other non-cash movement o
Cash generated from operations 987 8579 oN 680
Interest paid (147) (87} (124) 72}
Taxaton 4)
Net cash generated from operating activities 836 792 797 608
Cash flow from investing actvities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (702) 51a) (661) {440)
Purchase of intangible assets 15 (67 {35) (67 {35)
Purchase of shares in available-for-sale financial assets (16) ey (16)
Investment m subsidiary (32)
Loan made to parent (21) @n
Repayment of loan from parent 10 10
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financal assets i
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets held for sale, property, plant and 24 47 24 S
equipment
Proceeds recerved from loan notes 4 4 4 4
Interest recemved 28 7 28 6
Dmdends recewved 10z
Increase in other current interest-bearing deposits (B6) (245} (89) (245)
Net cash used in investing activities (B26) {735} (820) {562}
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 236 368 236 368
Repayments of borrowings {188) {100 {i73) 59
Payment of finance lease habilities (296) (349 {310) (358)
Issue of share capital { 1
Distrbutions made 1o holders of perpetual securniues (18) (3
Met cash flow from financing actvities {265) {%4) (246} 79}
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (255) 37 (269) (33}
Net foreign exchange differences 46 30 46 30
Cash and cash equwalents at beginning of period 779 786 753 758
Cash and cash equivalents at period end 22 570 779 530 753
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Statements of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2011 Group
Investment Other Total Non-

issued Share In own reserves shareholders’ controlling Total
£ midhon capital prarmium shares {note 32) equity Interest eguity
At 1)anuary 201 288 937 3 978 2,200 200 2,400
Total comprehensive income For the penod (net of tax} 592 592 18 610
Cost of share-based payment net of recharges n 1 1
Exercise of share options . 1 (3 4 (4)
Transfer of investment in own shares 1o available-for- 3 2 P
sale financial asset
1ssue of share capal 291 1 9
Cancellation of shares {289) (289) (289}
Revaluauon and reclassificauon of equity poruon of
convertible bond (221} @21 @0
Distributions made to holders of perpetual securities (18) (18)
At 31 Dacember 2011 290 937 - 1,355 2,582 200 2,782
For the nine months to 31 December 2010 Group

investment Other Toeal Non-

Issued Share n own reserves shareholders controlimg Toral
£ million capital premium shares {note 32) equity nterest equity
At 1 Apnt 2010 288 937 {4 £92 1913 200 2113
Total comprehensive income for the penod (net of tax) 281 281 13 294
Caszt of share-based payment ) & &
Exercise of share options f Iith
Distnbutions made to holders of perpetual secunues (13} {13}
At 31 December 2010 288 237 3 978 2200 200 2400
For the year ended 3t December 201 Company

Ilavestment Cther

Issued Share N own reserves Total
£ milhon caprtal presium shares (note 32) equity
At 1 January 2011 288 937 (3) 590 1,812
Totzl comprehensive income for the year (net of tax)} 556 556
Cost of share based payment net of recharges " 1
Exercise of share options 1 (5) 4
Transfer of mvestment in own shares o avalable-for-sale 2 2
finangial assets
Issug of share capinal 291 29
Cancellation of shares (289) {289)
Revaluaton and reclassification of equity portion of @21 @21
canvertible bond
At 31 December 2011 290 937 - 931 2,158
For the nine months ended 31 December 2010 Company

Investment Other

Issued Share "m own reserves Toral
£ rlhon capial premium shares fnote 32} equity
At 1 Apnl 2010 288 837 4) 273 1494
Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax} 312 312
Cost of share-based payment 6 6
Exercise of share opuons I il
At 31 December 2010 258 937 (3} 580 1812
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Notes to the accounts
1  Authonsation of financial statements and comphance with IFRSs

On 21 Januvary 2011, BA and Iberia completed a merger to create a new leading arrline group 1AG was formed and shares in IAG started trading on the
London Stock Exchange, with a secondary listng n Spain, on 24 January 2011 As a consequence, the British Airways Group (the ‘Group”) changed its
reporung period to a 3t December year end in 2010 The comparative results are the Group's published financial statements for the nine months
ended 31 December 2010

The Group's and Company's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 were authonsed for i1ssue by the Board of Directors on 29
March 2012 and the balance sheets were signed on the Board's behalf by Keith Willlams and Nick Swift Bntish Airways Plcis a public imited company
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales .

The Group has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporung Standards (IFRSs)* as adopted by
the ELI IFRSs as adopted by the EU differ in certain respects from [FRSs as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB")
Howaever, the consolidated financial statements for the periods presented would be no different had the Group applied {FRSs as 1ssued by the IASB.
References to 'IFRS' hereafter should be construed as references to IFRSs as adopted by the EU The principal accounting polcies adopted by the
Group and by the Company are set out In note 2

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish its indivdual income
statement and related notes

* For the purposes of these statements, IFRS also includes International Accounting Standards (1AS?)
2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The basis of preparation and accounting policies set out in this Report and Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and
measurement critena of IFRS, which also include |ASs, as 1ssued by the IASB and with those of the Standing Interpretations 1ssued by the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRICY) of the IASB

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention except for certain financial assets and habiliues, including denvative
financaial instruments and available-for-sale financial assets that are measured at farr value The carrying value of recognised assets and liabilities that
are subject to fair value hedges are adjusted to record changes i the fair values attributable to the nsks that are being hedged

The Group's and Company's financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest million pounds (£ milion),
except where indicated otherwise

Basis of consolidation
The Group accounts include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, each made up to 31 December, together with the attributable share of
results and reserves of associates, adjusted where appropniate to conform with the Group's accounting policies

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group Control exists when the Group has the power either directly or indirectly to govern the financal
and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefit from its activiies  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, which 1s
the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases

All intra-group account balances, including sntra-group profits, have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements Minornty
Interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets In subsidiaries that are not held by the Group and are presented separately within
equity In the consolidated balance sheet

Revenue

Passenger and cargo revenue Is recognised when the transportatton service 1s provided Passenger tickets net of discounts are recorded as current
{iabilities in the 'sales i advance of carnage’ account until recognised as revenue Linused tickets are recognised as revenue using estimates regarding
the uming of recognition based on the terms and conditions of the ticket and historical trends

Other revenue 1s recognised at the time the service 1s provided Commuission costs are recognised at the same time as the revenue to which they
relate and are charged to operating expenditure

Revenue recognition — customer loyalty programmes

The Group operates two principal loyalty programmes The arline’s frequent flyer programme operates through the airine's ‘Executive Club® and
allows frequent travellers to accumulate Avios that entitle them to a choice of vanous awards, pnmarily free travel The fair value attnibuted to the
awarded Avios 1s deferred as a hability and recognised as revenue on redemption of the miles by the participants to whom the Avias are 1ssued

In addition, Avios are sold to commercial partners to use in promotional activity The fair value of the Avios sold 1s deferred and recognised as

revenue on redemption of the Avios by the participants to whom the Awvios are sssued The cost of the redemption of the Avias 1s recogmsed when
the Avios are redeemed
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2  Summary of significant accounting pohcies conunued

Revenue recogmtion - customer loyalty programmes continued

The Group's wholly-owned subsidiary, The Mileage Company Limited, alsa operates a customer loyalty scheme The scheme allows companies to
purchase Avios for use in therr own promotional activities Avios can be redeemed for a range of benefits, including flights on BA and other carners
The fair value of the Avics sold Is deferred and recognised as revenue on redemption of the Avaos by the participants to whom the Avios are issued
The cost of providing redemption services 1s recognised when the Awvios are redeemed

Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker The chief

operating decssion-maker, who 1s responsible for resource allocation and assessing performance of the operatung segments, has been identsfied as the
Leadership Team The ndture of the operating segments (s set out In note 3

Intangible assets

Intangble assets are held at cost and are either amortised on a straight-hne basis over their economic life, or they are deemed to have an indefinite
economic life and are not amortised, but tested annually for impairment.

a  Goodwill
Where the cost of a business combination exceeds the far value attributable to the net assets acquired, the resulting goodwill 1s capitalised and

tested for impairment annually and whenever indicators exist that the carrying value may not be recoverable Any goodwill arising on the acquisition
of equity accounted entities 15 included within the cost of those entities

Goodwill 1s allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing

b Landing rights
Landing nghts acquired from other airlines are capitalised at cost or at farr value, less any accumulated impairment losses Capitalised landing rights

based outside the EU are amortised on a straight-line basis over a penod not exceeding 20 years Capitahsed landing rights based within the EU are
not amortised, as regulations within the EU consider them to have an indefinite econormic life

c Software

The cost of purchase or development of computer software that 1s separable from an item of related hardware ss capitalised separately and
amortised over a pentod not exceeding four years on a straight-kine basis

d  Emussions allowances
During 2011 the Group has purchased a number of emissions allowances n anticipation of being subject to the European Emissions Trading Scheme

from 1 January 2012 Purchased emissions allowances are initially recogmsed at ¢ost and are not revalued or amortised but are tested for impairment
whenever indicators exist that the carrying value may not be recoverable

The carrying value of intangibles 1s reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is held at cost The Group has a policy of not revaluing property, plant and equipment, Depreciation is calculated to
write off the cost less estimated residual value on a straight-line basis, over the economic life of the asset Residual values, where applicable, are

reviewed annually against prevaiing market values for equivalently aged assets and depreciation rates are adjusted accordingly on a prospective
basis

The carrying value 1s reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable and the
cumulative imparment losses are shown as a reduction in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment.

a  Capitalisation of interest on progress payments

Interest attributed to progress payments, and related exchange movements on foreign currency amounts, made on account of aircraft and other
qualfying assets under construction i1s capitalised and added to the cost of the asset concerned

b Fleet

All arcraft are stated at the fair vatue of the consideration given after taking account of manufacturers' credits Fleet assets owned, or held on finance

lease or hire purchase arrangements, are depreciated at rates calculated to write down the cost to the estimated residual value at the end of their
planned ocperational lives an a straight-line basis

Cabin interior modifications, including those required for brand changes and relaunches, are depreciated over the lower of five years and the
remaining hfe of the aircraft.

Aircraft and engine spares acquired on the introduction or expansion of a fleet, as well as rotable spares purchased separately, are carried as
property, plant and equipment and generally depreciate in line with the fleet to which they relate

Major overhaul expenditure, including replacement spares and labour costs, 1s capitalised and amortised over the average expected life between
major overhauls All other replacement spares and other costs relating to maintenance of fleet assets (including maintenance prowvided under "pay-as-
you-go' contracts) are charged to the income statement on consumption or as incurred respectively
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Property, plant and equipment continzed
¢ Property and equipment

Provision 1s made for the depreciation of ali property and equipment, apart from freehold land, based upon expected useful lives, or in the case of
leasehold properties over the duration of the leases if shorter, on a straight-line basis

d Leased and hire purchase assets

Where assets are financed through finance leases or hire purchase arrangements, under which substanually all the nsks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the Group, the assets are treated as if they had been purchased ocutnght The amount included in the cost of property, plant and
equipment represents the aggregate of the capital elements payable during the lease or hire purchase term The corresponding obhgation, reduced by
the appropnate proportion of lease orhire purchase payments made, i1s included in borrowings

The amount inctuded in the cost of property, plant and equupment 1s depreciated on the basis descrnibed in the preceding paragraphs and the interest
element of lease or hire purchase payments made 15 included in interest payabla in the income statement.

Total minimum payments, measured at inception, under all other lease arrangements, known as operating leases, are charged to the income
staterment in equal annual amounts over the period of the lease In respect of aircraft, certain operating lease arrangements allow the Group to
terminate the leases after a imited initial period (normally 10 years), without further matenial financial obhigations In certain cases the Group is
entitled to extend the inimal lease period on predetermined terms, such leases are descnbed as extendable operating leases

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying value 1s to be recovered principally through sale as opposed to continuing use

The sale must be considered to be highly probable and to be enacted within 12 months Held for sale assets are carned at the lower of carrying value
and farr value less costs to sell

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale

Inventories

|
1
Inventories, tncluding arcraft expendables, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value Such cost s determined by the weighted average ‘
cost method

Interests in associates

An associate 1s an undertaking in which the Group has a long-term equity interest and over which it has the power to exercise significant influence
The Group's interest In the net assets of associates Is included in investment in associates in the consohdated balance sheet and its interest in their
results 1s ncluded in the income statement, below operating profit In the case of Iberia, the latest available results are included In some cases, results
are disclosed using unaudited management accounts The attributable results of those compames acquired or disposed of dunng the year are
included for the penod of ownership Refer to note 17 for details of investments in associates

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and deposits with any qualifying financial institution repayable on demand or maturing within three
months of the date of acquisison and which are subject to an insignificant nsk of change in value

Other current interest-bearing deposits

Other current interest-bearing deposits, principally compnsing funds held with banks and other financial institutions, are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method Such financial assets are classified as held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to
hold to matunity Gains and losses are recognised in income when the deposits are derecogrised or impaired, as well as through the amorusation
process

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less allowances made for doubtful receivables, which approximates fair value given the short dated
nature of these assets A provision for smpairment of receivables (allowance for doubtful receivables) s estabhshed when there 1s objective evidence
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the onginal terms of the receivable

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are not classified as loans and receivables After initial recogmuon,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with gains or losses recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment 1s
derecognised or untit the nvestment 1s determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity 1s included

in the income statement. The iImpairment review of avallable-for-sale financial assets is based on the same cntena as the Imparrment review of
financial assets

The fair value of quoted investments i1s determined by reference to bid pnces at the close of business on the balance sheet date Where there 1s no
active market, fair value 1s determined using valuation techmques. Where fair value cannot be rebably estimated, assets are carned at cost.
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Employee benefits

a Pension obligations

Employee benefits, including pensions and other post-retirement benefits (pnincipally post-retirement healthcare benefits) are presented in these
financial statements in accordance with 1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits' The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans A defined
contribution plan i1s a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity The Group has no legal or constructive

obligations to pay further contributions If the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and pnor periods

Typtcally defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation

Current service costs are recognised within operating expenses in the period in which they anse Past service costs are recognised when the benefit
has been given The financing cost and expected return on ptan assets are recognised withun financing costs in the periods in which they anise The
accumulated effect of changes in estimates, changes in assumptions and deviations from actuaral assumptions (actuanal gains and losses) that are
less than 10 per cent of the higher of pension benefit abligations and pension plan assets at the beginning of the year are not recorded When the
accumulated effect 1s above 10 per cent the excess amount 1s recognised on a straight-line basis in the income statement over the estimated average
remaining service period

The far value of insurance policies which exactly match the amount and timing of some or all benefits payable under the scheme are deemed to be
the present value of the related obligations Longewvity swaps are measured at their farr value

b  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment s terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits The Group recognises termination benefits when it 1s demonstrably committed to

either terminating the employment of current employees according to a detaled formal plan without realistic possibility of withdrawal, or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy

Other employee benefits are recognised when there is deemed to be a present obligation

Share-based payments

The Group has a number of equity-settled share-based employee incentive plans in which the Group's employees participate Prior to the merger the
awards were made under schemes operated by the Company and represented rights over its ordinary shares These awards rolted over into awards in
respect of shares in IAG at the merger Subsequent to the merger, awards are made under schemes operated by IAG and represent nghts over its
ordinary shares The cost of these awards is recharged from IAG to the Group and recognised in equity as a capital contribution from I1AG

The fair value of employee share option plans 1s measured at the date of grant of the option using an appropnate valuation model The resulting cost,
as adjusted for the expected and actual level of vesting of the options, 1s charged to tncome over the period in which the options vest At each
balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense 15 calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
management's best estmate of the achievement or otherwise of nan-market conditions, of the number of equity instruments that will ulimately vest

The movement In the cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date 1s recognised in the Income statement with a corresponding entry in
equity

Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorties, based on tax rates
and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred income tax 1s recogmised on all temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and labilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements, with the following exceptions

. Where the temporary difference arises from the imtial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that Is not a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,

. In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries or associates, where the timing of the reversal of

the temporary differences can be controlled and 1t 1s probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
and

. Deferred income tax assets are recogmised only to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profit will be avallable against which the
deductible temporary differences, carned forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised

Deferred income tax assets and habilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related asset 1s
reahsed or liability Is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Income tax s charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited or charged to equity Otherwise income tax 1s recognised in
the income statement

22




British Airways Plc

2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Provisions

Provisions are made when an obligation exssts for a future hability in respect of a past event and where the amount of the abhigation can be rehably
estimated Restructunng provisions are made for direct expenditures of a business reorganisaticn where the plans are sufficiently detaied and well
advanced and where appropriate commumication to those affected has been undertaken at the balance sheet date If the effect 1s matenal, expected
future cash flows are discounted using a rate that refleczs, where appropriate, the nsks specific to the liabiity Where discounting is used, the increase
in the provision due to unwinding the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Foreign currency translation

Transacuons in foreign currencies are witially recorded in the Group's functional currency, sterhing, by applying the spot exchange rate ruling at the
date of the transaction Monetary foreign currency balances are translated into sterling at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date All other profits
or losses ansing on translation are dealt with through the income statement except where hedge accounting 1s applied

The net assets of foreign operations are translated into sterhng at the rate of exchange rufing at the balance sheet date Profits and losses of such
operations are translated Into sterling at average rates of exchange dunng the penod The resulting exchange differences are taken directly to a
separate component of equity unt all or part of the interest 1s sold, when the relevant portion of the cumuiative exchange 1s recognised m the
Income statement,

Derivatives and financial instruments
In accordance with LAS 39 'Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement’, finanaial instruments are recorded initially at fair value Subsequent
measurement of those instruments at the balance sheet date reflects the designation of the financial instrument. The Group determines the

classification at imttial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each penod end except for thase financial instruments measured at fair value
through the income statement

Other investments (other than interests n associates) are designated as avallable-for-sale financial assets and are recorded at fair value Any change
in the fair value 1s reported in equity until the mvestment 1s sold, when the cumulative amount recognised in equity 1s recogrised in the income
statement In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the farr value of the
security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the secunty is impaired If any such evidence exists for available-far-sale financial assets, the
cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity s included 10 the income statement.

Exchange gains and 1osses on monetary items are taken to the income statement unless the item has been designated and 15 assessed as an effective
hedging instrument in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39 Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary investments are reflected in equity
until the investment 15 sold, when the cumulative amount recognised in equity 1s recognised in the Income statement.

Long-term borrowings are recorded at amortised cost. Certan leases contam interest rate swaps that are closely related to the underlying financing
and, as such, are not accounted for as an embedded derivative

Dernwvative financial instruments, comprising mterest rate swap agreements, foreign exchange derwvatives, fuel hedging derivatives (including options,
swaps and futures) and the obligation to settle the converuble bond in shares of IAG, are measured at fair value on the Group balance sheet.

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of dervative financial instruments are reported through operating income or financing according to the nature of the
tinstrument, unless the denvative financial instrument has been designated as a hedge of a highly probable expected future cash flow Gains and losses
on denvative financial Instruments designated as cash flow hedges and assessed as effective for the period are taken to equity in accordance with the
requirements of IAS 39 Gains and losses taken to equity are reflected in the income statement when etther the hedged cash flow impacts income or
the hedged item I1s no longer expected to occur

Certain loan repayment istalments denominated in US dollars, evro and Japanese yen are designated as cash flow hedges of highly probable future
foreign currency revenues Exchange differences ansing from the translation of these loan repayment instziments are taken to equity in accordance

with IAS 39 requirements and subsequently reflected i the income statement when esther the future revenue impacts income or its occurrence Is no
longer expected to occur

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets 1s impaired A financial asset is considered
imparred «f objective evidence indicates that ane or more events that have occurred since the imual recognition of the asset have had a negative
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

Anmparrment loss in respect of a financial asset carned at amortised cost 1s calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the
present value of the estmated future cash flows discounted at the asset's onginal effective interest rate
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Investment tn own shares

Prior to the merger shares in the Company held by the Group were classified as investments in own shares and shown as deductions from
sharehoiders’ equity at cost Consideration received for the sale of such shares was also recognised in equity, with any difference between the
proceeds from the sale and the oniginal cost being taken to reserves No gain or loss was recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale,
1ssue or cancellation of equity shares

Subsequent to the merger, the Group na longer holds shares in the Company The Company shares converted to {AG shares at the date of the
merger and these shares are recognised within avaitable-for-sale financial assets

Derecognition of financial assets and habilities
A financial asset or lrability 1s generally derecognised when the contract that gives nse 10 1t has been settled, sold, cancelled or has expired

Where an existing financial hability 1s replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing hability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 1s treated as a derecognition of the origmnal hability and the recognition of a new hability,
such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts are recognised in the income statement

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are those that In management's view need te be disclosed by virtue of therr size or Inctdence  Such items are included on the
mcome statement under a caption to which they relate, and are separately disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Key accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses These estimates and associated assumptions are based on histoncal experience
and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results could differ from these esumates These underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised n the period in which the estimate 1s revised If the
revision affects only that penod, or in the penod of the revision and future penods if these are also affected The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant nsk of causing a matenal adjustment within the next financial year are discussed below

a  Imparrment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date Goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite economic lives are tested for impairment annually and at other umes when such indicators exist The recoverable amounts of cash-
generaung units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations These calculations require the use of estimates as disclosed in note 16

Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable

b  Penstons and other post-retirement benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits 1s determined using actuanal valuations The actuarial
valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future
pension increases Due to the long-term nature of these schemes, such estunates are subject to significant uncertainty and are disclosed in note 33

C Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain financial assets as available-for-sale and recognises movements in their fair value in shareholders' equity When the fair
value declines, management makes assumptions about the dechne in value to determine whether it 1s an impairment that should be recognised in the
income statement Impairment losses recognised in the income statement are disclosed in note 9

d  Passenger revenue recognition
Passenger revenue 1s recognised when the transportation i1s provided Ticket sales that are not expected to be used for transportation (unused

tickets’) are recognised as revenue using estimates regarding the tming of recogniton based on the terms and conditions of the ticket and historical
trends

e Income taxes

The Group 1s subject to Income taxes in numerous junsdictions Significant judgement 1s required (n determining the worldwide provision for iIncome
taxes There are many transactions and calcutations for which the ultimate tax determination 1s uncertain The Group recognises liabilities for
anucipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due Where the final tax outcome of these matters 1s different

from the amounts that were imitially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period n
which such determination Is made
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Key judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

a Imparment of avallable-for-sale equity instruments

The determination of impairment on an availlable-for-sale equity investment requires significant jJudgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost, the financial health of and short-
term business outtook for the investee, including factors such as mdustry and sector performance, and operational and financing cash flow

b  Residual values and useful hves of assets

The Group exercises judgement to determine useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment. The assets are depreciated down to
their residual values over their esumated useful hives Further details are provided in note 12

Impact of new International Financial Reporting Standards
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial period except as follows

IFRS 3 (Amendment), ‘Business Combinations’, effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 The amendment clanfies guidance on the
choice of measuring non-controlling interests at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets and applies only to instruments
that present ownership interest and entitle their holders 10 a proportionate share of the net assets in the event of hquidation This 1s not currently
applicable to the Group

IFRS 7 {Amendment) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 The amendment includes multple
clanfications related to the disclosure of financial instruments The standard requires a change in the presentation of the Group's notes to the
financial statements but has no impact on reported profits

1AS 1 (Amendment) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 The amendment permits, for
each component of equity, the presentation of the analysis by item to be included in either the statement of changes In equity or the notes to the
financial statements The standard requires a change in the format and presentation of the Group's pnimary statements but has no impact on
reported profits or equity

1AS 24 (Amendment) ‘Related Party Transactions', effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 The amendment clanfies the definition
of related party relationships, with parucular emphasis on party relationships with persons and key management personnel The amendment also
permits that entities may be exempt from related party disclosure requirements for transactions with a government, where those entities are
controlled, yointly controlled, or significantly influenced by that same government The new definition of a related party does not impact the Group's
disclosures

1AS 34 (Amendment) ‘Intenm Financzl Reportng’, effecuve for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 The amendment clanfies ginndance on
the disclosure principles involving significant events and transacuions, including changes to fair value measurements, and the requirement to update
relevant information from the most recent annual report.

IFRIC 14 (Amendment) ‘Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement’, effective for periods beginning on ar after 1 January 2011 The amendment
permits a prepayment of future service cost by the entity to be recognised as a pension asset, where the Group 1s not subject to mumimum funding
requirements The standard does not affect the financial position of the Group

Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs or to standards did not have any impact on the accounting pokcies, financial positton or
performance of the Group

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective

The IASB and IFRIC 1ssued the following standards, amendments and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these financial
statements which management believe could impact the Group in future periods The Group plans to adopt the following standards, interpretations
and amendments from 1 )anuary 2012, however management have not yet determined the potential effect of the amendments

IFRS 7 (Amendment)} ‘Financial tnstruments Cisclosures’, effective for peniods beginning on or after 1 July 2011 The amendment requires additional
quanuitative and quahitative disclosures relating to transfers of financial assets when financial assets are not derecogmsed in their entirety, or when
they are derecognised in their entirety but the entity has continuing involvement in them

1AS 19 (Amendment) ‘Employee Benefits (not yet endorsed by the EUY, effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 The revised

standard has ehminated the use of the corndor approach and instead mandated immediate recognition of all re-measurements of the defined benefit
hability (asset) inciuding gains and losses in other comprehensive income
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New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective continued

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, (not yet endorsed by the EU), effective for periods beginming on or after 1 January 2013 The standard removes the
multiple classification and measurement models for financial assets required by IAS 39 and introduces a model that has only two classification
categones amortised cost and fair value Classification 1s driven by the business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financal assets The accounting and presentation for financial habilities and for derecognising financial instruments 1s relocated
from IAS 39 without any significant changes

IFRS 10 *Consolidated Financial Statemenis’ (not yet endorsed by the EU), effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 The standard
replaces the guidance on control and conselidation in 1AS 27 and SIC 12 Consolidation — special purpose entities The core principle that a
consolidated entity presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they were a single entity remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of consolidation

IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ (not yet endorsed by the EU), effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 The standard requires joint
arrangements to be accounted for as a joint operation or as a Jjoint venture depending on the nghts and cbligations of each party to the arrangement
Proportionate conselidation for joint ventures will be eliminated and equity accounting wil be mandatery It 1s anticipated that the apphication of the

standard will result in an immaterial decrease in net sales, total assets and total habilities of the Group but have no impact on the Group's net profit or
net assets

IFRS 12 'Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities’ {not yet endorsed by the EU), effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 The
standard requires enhanced disclosures of the nature, nsks and financal effects associated with the Group's interests in subsidianies, associates, joint

arrangements and unconsoldated structured entities

IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurement’ (not yet endorsed by the ELI), effective for penods beginming on or after 1)anuary 2013 The standard explains how
to measure fair value and aims to enhance fair value disclosures The standard does not change the measurement of fair value but cod fies it in one
place

There are no other standards and interpretations In issue but not yet adopted that the Directors anticipate will have a material effect on the reported
Income or net assets of the Group

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective
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3  Segment Information
E Business segments

The Group's network passenger and cargo operations are managed as a single business umt. The Leadership Team makes resource allocation
decisions based on route profitability, which considers arcraft type and route economics, based primanly by reference to passenger economics with
limited reference to cargo demand The objective in making resource allocation decisions is to ocpumise consolidated financial results While the
operations of OpenSkies SASU (OpenSkies) and BA Cityflyer Limited (Cityflyer) are considered to be separate operating segments, their activities
are considered to be sufficiently similar in nature to aggregate the two segments and report them together with the network passenger and cargo
operations Therefore, based on the way the Group treats the network passenger and cargo operauons, and the manner th which resource allocation
deaisions are made, the Group has only one reportable operating segment for financial reporung purposes, reported as the ‘airline business’

Financial results from other operating segments are below the quanutatve threshold for determining reportable operating segments and consist
prmarily of The Mileage Company Limited, British Airways Holidays Limited and Speedbird Insurance Company Limited

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Awrhine All other

£ million business segments Unallocated Total
Revenue
Saltes to external customers 9,690 297 9,987
Inter-segment sales 106 106
Segment revenue 9,796 297 10,093
Segment result 488 30 518
Other non-operating costs (32} (32)
Profit befare tax and finance costs 456 30 486
Net finance costs 192 (159 33
Loss on sale of assets (3 (3)
Share of associates profit (6) 6)
Revaluation of convertible bond derivative habidity 169 169
Tax 1G]} @D
Profit after tax 639 30 3 672
Assets and habiliues
Segment assets 11,005 132 11,137
Investrment In associates 232 232
Tatal assets 1,237 132 11,369
Segment habilities 3720 334 4,054
Unallecated habilities 4533 4,533
Total habilities 3,720 334 4533 8,587
Other segment infarmation
Property, plant and equipment - addiuons (note 12d) 640 10 650
Non-current assets held for sale - transfers in (note 14) 1 1
Intangible assets - additons (note 15¢} 72 72
Deprecation, amortisation and impatrment (note 4a) 68i 2 683
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets - including Flybe (note 9) 23 23
Excepuional items {note 4b)

Restructuning 12 12

Net impawrment reversal 3 8

* Unaflocated habiiuies consist of current taxes of £12 milion, deferred taxes of £778 million and borrowings of £3.743 million which are managed on
a Group basis
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3  Segment Information continued
a Business segments continued

For the nine months ended 31 December 2010

Airiine All other

£ million business segments Unallocated Toral
Revenue
Sales to external customers 6524 159 6,683
Inter-segment sales 57 57
Segment revenue 6,581 159 6,740
Segment result 323 19 342
Other non-operaung costs (20} 20}
Profit before tax and finance costs 303 19 322
Net finance costs (31 (137 (168}
Loss on sale of assets 3 3
Share of associates profit & &
Tax 13 13
Profit/(loss) after tax 275 19 {124} 170
Assets and hiabilities
Segment assets 10,585 123 10,708
Investment in associates 244 244
Total assets 10829 123 10,952
Segment habilivies 3424 377 3801
Unallocated habiiities * 4757 4751
Total habilittes 3424 377 4751 8552
Other segment information
Property, plant and equipment - addihions (note 12d) S61 2 563
Non-current assets held for sale - transfers in (note 14) 47 47
Intangible assets - additions (note 15c}) 35 35
Depreciauion, amorusation and impairment {nate 4a) 569 7 570
impairment of avalable-for-sale financial assets - including Flybe (note 9) 18 18
Exceptional items {note 4b)

Restructunng & &

Costs associated with the lbena merger 31 3

Impairment of OpenSkies assats iz 12

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 16 16

* Unallocated habilities consist of current taxes of £10 million, deferred taxes of £788 million and borrowings of £3,953 millien which are managed

on a Group basis
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3  Segment Information continued

b Geographical analysis - by area of oniginal sale

Group

12 months to Nire months to
31 December 31 Decemnber

£ million 201 2010
Europe 6,090 3906
UK 4,323 2943
Continental Europe 1,767 963
The Amencas 2,163 1493
LISA and Canada 1,921 1334
The rast of the Amencas 242 5
Afnca, Middle East and Indian sub-conunent 998 727
Far East and Awustralasia 736 557
Revenue 9,987 6683

The total of non-current assets excluding available-for-sale financial assets, employee benefit assets, other non-current assets and derivative financial
instruments located in the UK s £7,093 million (2010 £7,063 million) and the total of these non-current assets located in other countries 1s £3286

mullion (2010 £364 million)

4  Qperating profit
3 Operating profit 1s arnived at after charging/(crediting)

Depreciation, amortisation and imparment of non-current assets

Group
12 months to Nine months o
31 December 31 December
£ millkon 200 2010
QOwned assets 470 370
Finance leased aircraft 158 iog
Hire purchased awrcraft 6 20
Other leasehold interests 47 36
Impairment (reversal)/charge on property, plant, equipment and intangible assets (8) 28
Amorusation of intangible assets 10 7
683 570
Operating lease costs
Group
12 months to Nine months to
31 December 31 December
£ million 201 2010
Mirurnum lease rentals - areraft 73 51
- property and equipment 99 73
Aurcraft sub-lease rentals recernved (3) (4)
Property and equipment sub-lease rentals received 12) (e
Met onerous lease provision release (2)
155 no
Cost of inventories
Group
12 months to Nine months to
31 December 31 December
£ midlion 201 2010
Cost of Inventones recogrsed as an expense, mamly fuel 2,947 1865
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4  Operating Profit continued

b Exceptional items
Group
12 months to  Nune months to
31 December 3t December
£ million 20m 2010
Recognised in operaung profit
Restructuring costs 12 6
Impairment of OpenSkies assets - 2
Imparrment {reversal)/charge on property, plant, equipment and intangtble assets (8) 16
Costs associated with the [bena merger 37
4 65
5  Auditor’'s remuneration
Group Company
12 months to Nine months to 12 months to Nine months to
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
£ 000 201 2010 201 2010
Group auditors
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group s accounts 1,467 1701 1,467 707
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for ather services.
Auht of the Group's subsidianies pursuant to legislation 350 402
Other services pursuant to legislatson 36 29 36 29
Other services relating to taxation 273 209 273 195
Services relating to corporate finance transactions 432 2200 432 2200
2,558 4541 2,208 4125

Of the Group fees, £2,300,200 relates to the UK (nine moaths ended 31 December 2010 £4,343,000) and £257,400 refates to overseas (nine

months ended 31 December 2010 £198,000)

Of the Company fees, £1,950,600 relates to the UK (nine months ended 31 December 2010 £3,941,000) and £257,400 relates to overseas (nine

months ended 31 December 2010 £184,000)

The audit fees payable to Ernst & Young LLP are approved by the BA Board having been reviewed in the context of other companies for cost

effectiveness

The Board also reviews and approves the nature and extent of non-audit services to ensure that independence 1s maintained
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6 Employee costs and numbers
a Staff costs

The average number of persons employed during the year was as follows

Group Company

12 months to Nine months to 12 months to Mine months to

31 December 31 Decernber 31 December 3! December

Number 201 2010 201 2010
UK 35,101 F4745 32,988 32699
Overseas 5,151 5083 4,293 4369
40,252 39828 37,281 ~ 37068

Group Company

12 months to Ninre months to 12 months to Nine months to

31 December 31 Decernber 31 December 31 December

£ milion 2011 2010 20m 2010
Wages and salaries 1,424 993 1,31 230
Social secunty costs 157 114 143 104
Costs related 1o pension scheme benefits 175 157 174 153
Other post-retirement benefit costs 1 3 5 K3
Other employee costs 392 280 n 270
Total employee costs excluding restructunng 2,153 1547 2,030 1460
Restructuning 19 {7 18 [
Total employee costs 2,172 1546 2,048 1459

Included in "Wages and salanies’1s a total expense for share-based payments of £13 mullion (nine months ended 31 December 2010 £6 million) that
anises from transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Other employee costs nclude allowances and accommodation for crew

b Directors’ emoluments
Group
12 months to  Nine months to
31 December 3! December
£'000 201 2010
Fees 213 537
Salary and benefits 1,120 203
Pension contributions 128 78
Performance-related bonuses 445 628
1,907 2140

During the year two Directors (rine months ended 31 December 2010 one) accrued benefits under a defined benefit pension scheme and three
Chrectors (nine months ended 31 December 2010 one) accrued benefits under a defined contribution pension scheme

Following the merger, two Directors of the Company were employed and remunerated by IAG and full details of their salary and benefits can be
found in the Report and Accounts for IAG A third non-executive Director was remunerated by IAG and full details of his salary and benefits can be
found in the Report and Accounts for IAG  In addition, a fourth Director was also employed and remunerated by IAG In respect of his services to the
IAG Group as a whole

Pror to the merger, the aggregate emoluments for the hughest pard Director were borne directly by the Company and subsequently by tAG The
aggregate emoluments for the year amounted to £572,304 and contributions to the Company'’s defined benefit scheme amounted to £3,928 The
value of the accrued benefits in respect of his pension scheme at 31 December 2011 amounted to £2,068,769 (31 December 2010 £1960,200)

At 31 December 2011, none of the Directors held any direct interest in any shares of the Company However three Directors (nine months ended 31
December 2010 two) participated in Long Term Incentive Schemes of the Company that were in existence prior to the merger; these consisted of
the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and the Briush Airways Performance Share Plan (PSP) Subsequent to the merger, six Directors (nine months
ended 31 December 2010 none) also participated in IAG's Long Term Incentive Scheme called the IAG Performance Share Plan (IPSP)

Durning the year ended 31 December 2011, none of the Directors (mne months ended 31 December 2010 none) exercised thewr nights under the
Briush Airways Share Option Plans During the year, awards were exercised by two Directors (mine months ended 31 December 2010 none) in the
form of IAG shares under the Long Term tncentive Schemes of the Company

Compensation for loss of office 1s paid in accordance with the Executive Director’s service contract. No Directors were paid compensation for loss
of office during the year
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7 Finance costs and income

Group
12 months to Nine monehs to
31 December 31 December
£ rrullion 201 2010
a Finance costs
On bank loans* (23) (73
On finance leases {69 r47)
On hire purchase arrangements - {2
On other loans” (60) (52)
Interest expense (152) ()
Unwinding of discounting on provisions*™* {11) (73)
Capitalised interest™” 1 f
Change in fair value of cross currency swaps 1 !
(167) (125)

Total interest expense for financial habilives not at far value through the income statement 1s £83 million {nine months ended 31 December
2010 £65 milhon)

A

Unwinding of discount on the competition investigation prowision and restoration and handback prowvisions (note 27)

Interest costs on progress payments are capitalised at a rate based on London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 05 per cent which is the
rate specific to the borrowings

Group
12 menthste  Nine months to
31 December 31 December
£ milhon 2011 2010
b Finance income
Bank interest recewvable (total interest income for financial assets not at fair value through the income statement} 32 18
32 18
¢ Financing iIncome and expense relating to pensions
Met financing income relating to pensions 63 2
Amartisation of actuanal losses in excess of the corndor (26) 62}
Immediate recogniuon of net actuanial gains (APS) 84
Effect of the APS asset celing 123 73)
160 (49
d Retranslation charges on currency borrowings 2 12)
8  Loss on sale of non-current assets
Group
12 months to Nine months to
31 December 31 December
£ million 201 2010
Net loss on sale of non-current assets held for sale [ 3
Net profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 3)
Loss cn sale of non-current assets 3 3
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9  Net charge relating to available-for-sale financial assets

Group
12 months to Nine months to
31 December 31 December
£ milhon 201 2010
Income from availzble-for-sale finanaal assets 2 !
Amounts written off iInvestments* (23) (i}
@ (18
* Includes a £16 milhon impairment of the Group's investment in Flybe Plc (note 18) (nine months ended 31 December 2010 £15 milhen)
10 Tax
a Tax on profit on ordinary activities
Tax charge/(credit) in the income statement
Group
12 months to Nine months to
31 December 3 Decernber
£ million 201 2010
Current iIncome tax
UK corporation tax 6 2
UK tax 6 2
Adjustments in respect of pnor years - UK corporacion tax n 4
Adjustments in respect of pnor years - Overseas Tax 9)
Total current income tax charge 8 I
Deferred tax
Property, plant and equipment related temporary differences (52) (67}
Pension related temporary differences 75 <0
Unremitted eamings of associate companies (/]
Tax losses carned forward 67 21
Exchange related temporary differences {5 3
Share opuon deductions written back (2) It
Qther temporary differences 4
Adjustments in respect of prior years - deferred tax (16) 8
Effact of corporation tax rate change on deferred tax balances (72) (36}
Total deferred tax credit )] (g
Tatal tax charge/(credit) in the income statement 7 (13)
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10 Tax continued

a Tax on profit on ordinary activities continued

Tax (credit)/charge directly to equity Group
12 months to Nirnre moniths to
31 December 31 Decemnber

£ mullion 2011 2010

Deferred tax relatng to items charged to statement of other comprehensive income

Foreign exchange 9 Hi

Net (losses)/gains on cash flow hedges - (23) 20

Impact of changes in substantively enacted tax rates 4

Deferred tax relating to items charged to statement of changes in equity

Share options n I1ssue 1 2

Total tax (credit)/charge relating to items included in the statement of other comprehensive income and ) 23

statement of other changes in equity

b Reconciliation of the total tax charge/({credit)

The tax charge on the profit for the year ended 31 December 201115 less than the notional tax charge calculated at the UK corporation tax rate of
265 per cent

The tax credit on the profit for the pernod ended 31 December 2010 1s less than the notional tax charge calculated at the prior year UK corporation
tax rate of 28 per cent

The differences are explained below

Group
12 month to Ninre month to
31 December 31 December
£ mulhon 201 2010
Accounting profit before tax 679 157
Accounting profit multiphed by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 26 5 per cent (2010 28 per cent) 180 44
Effects of
Tax on assoctate and subsidiary companies
Tax on assaciates' profits and dvidends 2 7/}
Tax on remitted earnings H
Euro preferred secunties
Euro preferred secunties accounted for as non-controlling interests {5) 4}
Tax on revaluation of intra group foretgn currency loans !
Deferred tax assets not recognised
Current year losses not recognised 6 4
Other
Non-deductible expenses 4 14
Effect of pension fund accounting {61) (62)
Effect of convertible bond accounting (45) -
Foreign exchange and unwinding of discount on competitian vestigation provisions 4 3
Share option deducuons written back 2
Adjustments in respect af prior years (14) 12
Disposal and wrnite down of Investments [ io
Overseas tax m relavon to branches 2
Impact of changes in substantvely enacted tax rates 72) (36)
Tax charge/(credit) n the income statement 7 13}
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10 Tax continued
3 Deferred tax

The deferred tax incltuded 1n the balance sheet Is as follows.

Group Company
£ milhon 201 2010 201 2010
Fixed asset related temporary differences 847 952 774 882
Pension related tamporary differences S0 20 9 22
Exchange differences on funding habilities (22) 30) 22) (30)
Advance corporation tax (94) {94) {94) (94)
Tax losses carned forward @n (61 @n 6l
Fawr value profits recogmised on cash flow hedges 15 40 15 40
Share options related temporary differences (6) {5} (6) 5}
Deferred revenue in relation to loyalty reward programrmes 29) 32)
Other temporary differences 4 2) 2 {3}
At period end 778 788 733 751
Movement in provision

Group Company

£ mithon 2011 2010 2011 2010
Balance at beginning of period 788 774 751 720
Deferred tax credit relating to incorme statement U] (19} 9) (2)
Deferred tax (credit)/charge taken to statement of other comprehensive income (10 3 {10) 31
Defarred tax charge taken to statement of changes in eguity 1 2 1 2
At period end 778 758 733 751

d Other taxes

The Group also contributed tax revenues through payment of transaction and payroll related taxes A breakdown of these other taxes paid during

201 15 as follows

Group

12 months ta Nine months to

31 December 3t December

£ million 201 2010
UK Aur Passenger Duty an 261
Other ticket taxes 299 158
Payroll related taxes 157 n
Total 927 560

The UK Government has announced that the rates of Air Passenger Duty will increase by esght per cent from 1 April 2012

35




British Airways Plc

10 Tax continued
e Factors that may affect future tax charges

Following the change in ownership of the Group on 21 January 2011, UK pre-entry capital losses carried forward of £147 million (2010 £189 million)
are held These losses are available for offset against future UK chargeable gains on assets held by the Group before the change in ownership or
against assets purchases post the change from a nen-group company, which are used in the trade carned on by the company at the ume 1t joned the
new group The Group has deferred taxation anising on chargeable gains by roll-over and hold-over relief claims that have reduced the tax basis of
fixed assets by £69 milkon (2010 £69 million) No deferred tax hability has been recogmised in respect of the crystallisation of these chargeable gains
as they could be offset against the UK capital losses carned forward The Group also has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £70 million (2010
£75 million) ansing from temporary differences in respect of future capital losses If properties are realised at thewr residual value

The Group has overseas tax losses of £94 mifion (2010 £61 millon) that are carned forward for offset against suitable future taxable profits No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses as their utilisation 1s not currently anucipated

UK tax legislation largely exempts UK and overseas dividends recewved on or after 1 july 2009 from UK tax and as there are no withholding taxes
arising on the payment of such dividends, the timing difference on unremitted earnings of overseas subsidianies 1s Emil (2010 Enil)

Further reductions in the UK corporation tax rate were substantively enacted in the year The main rate of corporation tax was reduced from 28 per
cent to 26 per cent effective from 1 April 2011 The provision for deferred tax on timing differences as at 31 December 2011 was calculated at 25 per
cent, the corporation tax rate effective from 1 Apnl 2012 as substantively enacted at 31st December 2011 The difference from the application of 25
per cent instead of 26 per cent for the three month penod to 3t March 2012 1s not expected to be material The effect of further planned reductions
to the main rate of corporation tax by a further one per cent from 1 Apnl 2012 to 24 per cent, and one per cent per annum to 22 per cent by 1 April
2014, 15 expected to provide a esumated benefit to the Group's net assets of £105 million and will be applied in the Group's Financial Statements as
the legislation 1s substantively enacted

1 Dividends

The Directors declare that no dividend be paid for the year ended 31 December 2011 (nine months ended 31 December 2010 Enil)
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12 Property, plant and equipment

a Group
Group
£ millron Fleet Property Equipment Totl
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2010 11952 1520 744 14216
Addons (note 12d) 545 8 10 563
Disposals 73) 2 8 (83)
Reclassifications (177 2 {179)
Exchange movements 3} 3
Balance at 31 December 2010 " 12244 1526 744 14514
Addwions (note 12d) 590 26 34 650
Disposals an (93) 13) 213)
Reclassifications (137) {137
At 31 Decembaer 2011 12,590 1,459 765 14,814
Depreciaticn and impairment
Balance at 1 Apnil 2010 6213 600 499 7312
Charge for the period 457 43 35 535
Impawment charge™ 18 18
Disposals el 2 (8) En
Reclassifications 3 (3] (134)
Balance at 31 December 2010 6,486 647 523 7,650
Charge for the year 578 55 48 681
Impaiment charge* (8) (8)
Disposals (105) 93) 13) (219
Reclassificauons {126) (126)
At 31 December 2011 6,825 603 558 7,986
MNet book amounts
31 December 2011 5765 856 207 6,828
3t December 2010 5758 885 221 5,864
Analysis at 31 December 2011
Qwned 3454 823 171 4,448
Finance leased 2088 15 2,103
Hire purchase arrangements 79 79
Progress payments 14 33 il 168
Assets not i current use™” 30 30
5,765 856 207 6,828
Analysis at 31 December 2010
Cwned 3290 §74 199 4363
Finance leased 2114 16 2130
Hire purchase arrangements 201 201
Prograss payments &5 n 6 F.74
Assets not i current use** 88 58
5758 885 221 6,864
Group
31 December 37 December
£ millwon 2011 2010
The net book amount of property comprises
Freehold 243 251
Long leaseheold improvements 261 252
Short leasehold improvements*** 352 382
At period end 856 B85

The 2010 impairment charge related to two Boeing 747-400 aircraft which were permanently wntten off to therr realisable value dunng the perwod and the wnte
down of the camying values of praperty, plant and equipment relating to OpenSkies (note 16) Dunng the year the impairment charge relaung to two Boeing 747-
400 arcraft was partially reversed by £8 milhon due to an improvement in the realisable value of the aircraft engines.

As at 31 December 2010 five Boeing 747-400 arcraft were in temparary storage, two Boeing 747-400 arrcraft were permanently stood down and one Boeing
757-200 arcraft was permanently stood down for disposal (net book value £88 million). Duning the year two 747-400 aircraft were returned to service, two 747-
400 aircraft were dismantled for parts and the 757-200 aircraft was transferred into assets held for sale The net book value of the remaiming threa 747-400s as
at 31 December 2011 was £30 milhon

Shor leasehold improvements relate to leasehold interests with a duration of less than 50 years.

As at 31 December 2011, bank and other loans of the Group are secured on fleet assets with a cost of £2,602 millkon (2010 £2,456 milhon) and letters of credit of £230
million in favour of the Bnush Airways Pension Trustees are secured on certain arcraft (2010 £230 milon)

Included in the cost of tangible assets for the Group 1s £335 million (2010 £343 million) of capialised interest

Property, plant and equipment with a net book value of £2 milhon was disposed of by the Group dunng the year (une months ended 31 December 2010 £2 mullion}
resulting in £3 milhon profit (mne months ended 31 December 2010 £nil)
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12 Property, plant and equipment continued

b Company
Company
£ million Fleet Property Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2010 1546 1434 707 13687
Additions 474 1 8 490
Disposals {69} 2) 7 {78}
Exchange 2 2
Reclassifications (176) 7 (175}
Balance at 31 December 2010 11773 440 09 13922
Additions 556 25 23 604
Disposals (105) (93} (1} (209)
Reclassifications (137 {137
At 31 December 2011 12,087 1,372 721 14,180
Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 April 2010 6,023 563 468 7054
Charge for the penod 441 41 34 516
Disposals [(2/] [7/) 7 (76}
Impairment charge* 6 16
Raclassificatons (13 (131
Balance at 31 December 2010 6,282 602 495 7379
Charge for the year 554 52 44 650
Disposals {103) (93) [Q))] (207}
Impairment charge* 8) (8)
Reclassifications (126} (126)
At 31 December 201 6,599 561 528 7,688
Net book amounts
31 December 2011 5.488 am 193 6,492
31 December 2010 5,491 838 214 6543
Analysis at 31 December 2011
Owned 3177 778 157 4,112
Finance leased 2,088 15 2,103
Hire purchase arrangements 79 79
Progress payments 14 33 21 168
Assats not in current use** 30 30
5,488 811 193 6,492
Analysis at 31 December 2010
Owned 3027 827 192 4045
Finance leased 2114 16 2130
Hire purchase arrangements 202 202
Progress payments &0 i & 77
Assets not in current use** 88 88
54971 838 2i4 5543
Company
31 December 31 December
£ milhan 201 2010
The net book amount of property comprises
Freehold 198 206
Long lezsehold improvements 261 250
Short leasehold improvements*** 352 382
At peniod end 811 838

*

The 2010 impairment charge related to two Boeng 747-400 arcraft which were permanently wntten off to therr realisable value during the year Duning 2011 the
imparment charge relating to two Boeing 747-400 arcraft was partially reversed by £8 milllon due to an impravement in the realisable value of the aircraft engines

**  Asat 31 December 2010 five Boeing 747-400 arcraft were in temporary storage, two Boeing 747-400 aircraft were permanently stood down and one Boeing 757-
200 arrcraft was permanently siood down for disposal {net book value £88 million) Durning the year two 747-400 awrcraft were returned to service, two 747-400
arcraft were dismantled for parts and the 757-200 arrcraft was transferred into assets held for sale The net book value of the remaining three 747-400s as at 31
December 2011 was £30 mifhon.

*** Short leasehold improvements refate to leasehold interests with a duranion of less than 50 years

As at 31 December 2011, bank and other loans of the Company are secured on fleet assets with a cost of £2,342 mudlion (2010 £2,196 million) and letters of credit of £230
million in favour of the Bnitish Airways Pension Trustees are secured on certamn aircraft (2010 £230 million)

Included in the cost of tangible assets for the Company i1s £335 mullion (2010 £343 mithon) of capitalised interest.

Property, plant and equipment with a net book value of £2 milion was disposed of by the Company dunng the year (nine months ended 31 December 2010 £2 milhon)
resulting in £3 million profit (nine months ended 31 December 2010 £nil)

38




British Airways Plc

12 Property, plant and equipment continued
c Depreciation

Fleet 15 generally depreciated over penods ranging from 18-25 years after making allowance for estmated residual values. Effective annual
depreciation rates resulting from those methods are shown in the following table

Group
12 months to Nine months
to 31

31 December
. December
Per cent 2011 2010
Boeing 747-400, 777-200 and 777-300 37 37
Boeing 767-300 42 48
Boeing 757-200 4 4 44
Boeing 737-400 4.2 48
Aurbus A318, A319, A320 and A321 49 49
Embraer E170 and E190 64 64

For engines mamiained under 'pay-as-you-go’ contracts, the depreciation hives and residual values are the same as the aircraft to which the engines
relate For all other engines, the engine core 15 depreciated to residual value over the average remaining life of the related fleet. Major overhaul
expenditure 15 depreciated over penods ranging from 49-78 months, according to engine type

Property, with the exception of freehold land, 1s depreciated over its expected useful hfe subject to a maximum of 50 years Equipment Is
depreciated over periods ranging from four to 20 years, according to the type of equipment.

d Analysis of Group property, plant and equipment additions

Group
12 months to Mine months
to 31

31 December
December
£ milhan Fleet Property Eguipment 201 2010
Cash pad 643 24 35 702 510
Capitalhsed interest 1 1 7
Accrual movements (54} 2 m (53) 52
Totat additions 590 26 34 650 563

13 Capital expenditure commitments

Capnal expenditure authonsed and contracted for but not prowided for 1n the accounts amounts to £4,218 milhon for Group commitments (2010
£4,104 milhon) and €4.217 mdlion for Company commiiments (2010 £4,069 milion) The majonty of capitai expenditure commitments are
denominated in US dollars, as such the commitments are subject to exchange movements

The outstanding commitments include £4,104 miilion for the acquisition of three Boeing 777 (from 2012 to 2013), 24 Boeing 787s (from 2013 to
2017}, 11 Awrbus A320s (from 2012 to 2014), and 12 Arrbus A380s {from 2013 to 2016)

14 Non-current assets held for sale

The non-current assets held for sale of £15 million (2010 £33 million} compnise three Boewng 757 aircraft (2010 six Boeing 757 aircraft), these arrcraft
will exit the business within 12 months of 31 December 2011

Assets with a net book valve of £11 million were transferred to non-current assets held for sale dunng the year ended 31 December 2011 (nine
months ended 31 December 2010 £47 million)

Non-current assets held for szle with a net book value of £29 million were disposed of by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2011 {(nine
months ended 31 December 2010 £44 milion) resulung in a nat loss on disposal of £6 mithon (mine months ended 31 December 2010 loss of £3
milion}

Non-current assets held for sale with a net book value of £29 millon were disposed of by the Company durning the year ended 31 December 2011

{mine months ended 31 December 2010 £39 million) resulting 0 a net loss on disposal of £6 milhon (mne months ended 31 December 2010 £5
million)
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15 Intangible assets

a Group

Group

Emissiens

£ million Goodwill Landing rights owances Software Total
Cost
Balance at 1 Apni 2010 40 251 164 455
Additons - 7 35
Exchange movements™ Ui o
Balance at 31 December 2010 40 268 18f 489
Additions 34 12 26 72
Disposals ) 6)
Exchange movements® m m
At 31 December 2011 40 301 12 20 554
Amortsation
Balance at 1 Apni 2010 49 137 186
Charge for the penod** 7 7
Impairment 10 10
Balance at 31 December 2010 59 144 203
Charge for the year** 10 10
Disposals 6) (6}
At 31 December 2011 59 148 207
Net book amounts
31 December 2011 40 242 12 53 347
31 Decermnber 2010 40 209 37 286

-

between Pans {Crly) and New York (Newark) arrports These landing nights are denominated in euro
**  Amortisation on non-EU based landing rights was less than £1 milhon for the current and pnor penod

b Company

Landing nghts with a carrying value of £27 million (2010 £28 mlhon) are associated with the acquisition of L'Avion, an airline operaung services

Company

£ million Landing nghts Emissions Software Toral
allowances

Cost
Balance at 1 Aprni 2010 212 54 376
Addons i8 6 34
Balance at 31 Decernber 2010 230 180 410
Additrons 34 12 26 72
Disposals (6} 6
At 31 December 2011 264 12 200 476
Amortisation
Balance at 1 Apnl 2010 49 137 186
Charge for the penod 7 7
Balance at 31 December 2010 49 144 193
Charge for the year 10 10
Disposals (€) (6)
At 31 December 2011 49 148 197
Net book amounts
31 December 2011 215 12 52 9
31 December 2010 187 36 217
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15 Intangible assets continued

c Analysis of Group intangible asset additions {(excluding goodwill)
12 months to Nine menths
31 December o 31
December
£ milion Landing Rights Emissions Software 2001 2010
allowances
Cash paid 34 7 26 67 35
Accrual movements 3 5
Total additions 34 12 6 72 35

16 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

An annual imparrment review is conducted on alt intangible assets that have an indefinite economic life Goodwill and landing rights based within the
EU are considered to have an indefimte economic life The impairment review 1s carried out at the level of a ‘cash-generating umit’ {CGL), defined as
the smallest idenufiable group of assets, habilities and associated intangible assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the
Group's ather cash flows from other assets or groups of assets On this basis, an impairment review has been conducted on two CGU's An
impairment review was performed on the network arrline operations CGU, including passenger and cargo operations out of all operated arports as
well as all related anciltary operations as it contains both goodwill and landing rights within the EU A separate impairment review has been conducted
on the operations of OpenSkies CGU as it contains landing rights within the EU

An impairment review involves the comparison of the carrying value of the cash-generating unit to the recoverable amount If the carrying value
exceeds the recoverable amount an impawrment charge is recognised to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount.

a Network airline operations
Group
2011 2010
£ milion aﬁguf;g:i Landing nights Goodwill Totai Landing rights Goodwif Total
Netwark airline operations 12 215 40 267 151 40 221

The recoverable amount of the network airline operations has been measured based on its value in use, using a discounted cash flow model, cash
flow projections are based on the business plan approved by the Board covening a five-year period Cash flows beyond the five-year penod are
projected to increase in hine with the UK long-term growth assumptions The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is denved
from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for the nsks specific to the assets

No impairment charge has ansen as a result of the review performed on the network airline operations

Key assumptions

Group
12 months to Nine months to
31 December 31 December
201 2010
Pre-tax discount rate (denved from the long-term wesghted average cost of capital) 10 00% 830%
L ong-term growth rate 250% 250%
QOperating margin range 29%-81% 50%-71%
Fuel prce range per barrel 5114 -5120 389 - %95

41




British Airways Plc

16 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets continued
a Network airline operations continued
Recoverable amount

Group
£ milkon 201 2000
Intangible assets 320 22!
Tangble assets 6,827 6858
Excess of recoverable amount over carrying amount 237 2178

The recoverable amount of the assets within the network airhine operations exceeds the carrying value by €23 billlon (2010 £2 2 bihon) If the

discount rate were increased by 610 basis points (2010 530 basis points) or the operating margin were to decrease by 44 per cent (2010 42 per
cent), the headroom would amount to €nil

b OpenSkies

Group

2011 2010

E million Landing nghts Tota) Landing rghts Total
Carrying value of intangible assets {before imparment charges) 27 27 38 38

Impairment of OpenSkies landing nghts - {10} (70)
Carrying value of intang ble assets* 27 27 28 28

*Included within total intangible assets allocated to the OpenSkies CGU are £20 mulhion {2010 £20 mullion) of indefinite iife intangible assets

The recoverable amount of the OpenSkies CGU has been measured on its value in use, using a discounted cash flow model, cash flow projections are
based on the forecast approved by the Board covenng a five-year penod Cash flows beycnd the five-year period are projected to imcrease in ine
with the EU long-term growth assumption The pre-tax discount rate apphed to the cash flow projections i1s derived from OpenSkies’ post-tax
weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for the rnisks specific to the assets

The imparment review of OpenSkies resulted 1n no impairment during the year (nine months ended 31 December 2010 £12 million impairment
charge) The 2010 impairment charge was pro-rated to the CGU's non-current assets based on their respective carrying values £10 milion was
allocated to landing rights, with the remainder being allocated to property, plant and equipment.

The recoverable amount of the assets within OpenSkies exceeds the carrying value by £20 milhon (2010 £nil) If the discount rate were increased by
380 basis points (2010 n) or the operating margin were to decrease by 31 per cent (2010 nil), the headroom would amount to £nil Following the
unmpairment in the prior period, the recoverable amount equalled the carrying value at 31 December 2010, and consequently any adverse change to
the discount rate or the operating margin would have resulted in a further impairment in the prior penod

Key assumptions

Group

12 months to MNine months to

31 December 31 December

201 2010

Pre-tax discount rate (denved from the long-term weiwghted average cost of capital) 10 00% 890%
Long-term growth rate 250% 250%
Operating margin range (10 4%) - 47% (124%}-39%
Fuel pnce range per barrel 5114 - 5120 189 - 595

The operating margins of both CGU's are based on the estimated effects of planned business efficiency and business change programmes, approved
and commuitted at the balance sheet date The trading environment 1s subject to both regulatery and compeuntive pressures that can have a matenal
effect on the operating performance cf the business
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16 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets continued

c impairment of Fleet

Duning the year ended 31 December 2011 a previously recognised impairment charge refaung to two Boeing 747-400 aircraft that were permanently

stood down in 2010 was partially reversed by £8 million (nine months ended 31 December 2010 impairment charge of £16 milhon) The reversal
arcse due to an improvement In the realisable value of the aircraft during the year These aircraft were included in assets not in current use at 31

December 2010

The mpairment review of OpenSkies at 31 December 2010 resulted 1n a total impairment charge of £12 million This impairment was pro-rated to the
CGU's non-current assets based on their respective carrying values £2 million was allocated to fleet, with the remainder being allocated to landing

rights No impawrment was identified from the impawrment review at 31 December 2011

17 investments
a Group

Investment in assoclates

Group
£ million 201 2010
Balance at start of year/penod 244 197
Exchange movements (4 (7)
Share of attnbutable results (6) 6
Share of movements on other reserves {2 48
At 31 December 232 244
Market value of listed associates
Group
£ milhan 201 2010
At 31 December - 340

Details of the investments that the Group accounts for as associates using the equity method are set out below

Percentage Country of ’
of equity Principal activities Holding ountry o IHCOrploratlor: an
owned principal operations
1B Opco Holding S L. (Ibena)” 1355 Aurline operations Ordinary shares Spain

* Held by a subsidiary company

The Group accounts for its investment n Ibena as an associate although the Group holds less than 20 per cent of the ssued share capital as the
Group has the ability to exercise significant influence over the investment due to the Group’s voting power (both through its equity holding and its

representation on key decision-making committees) and the nature of its commercial relabonships with Ibena

As a result of the merger, Ibena delisted from the Spanish stock exchange on 20 January 2011 As pant of the merger, ibena also canceiled therr

treasury stock, which increased the Group's shareholding from 1315% to 1355%

The following summarised financial information of the Group's investment 1n associates 15 shown based on the Group's share of results and net

assets

Group
£ million 2014 2010
Non-current assets 346 343
Current assets 292 330
Current habilities (225) (229)
Non-current habilities {190) (216}
Share of nat assets 223 228
Goodwill attnbutable to investments in associates 9 6
Revenues 588 405
Net profit after tax (58) 6
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17 Investments continued
b Company

A summary of the Company's investments in subsicharies 1s set out below

Company

Total Toral
£ million Cost Prawisions 201 2010
Balance at start of year/period 3,376 {1,043) 2,333 2368
Exchange movements (3} 3) &)
Additions 32 32
Prowision (58) {58) (27}
At 31 December 3,405 {1,101y 2,304 2333

The Company accounts for its investments in subsidianes and associates using the cost method

The Group's and Company's principal investments in subsidiaries, associates and other investments are hsted in principal investments on page 78
During the year the company invested £32 milion (nine months ended 31 December 2010 £nil) in the subsidiary BA European Limited

The charge during the year of £58 millon (nine months ended 31 December 20100 £27 mullion) relates to the £25 million wmpairment of the Group's

investment in The Phmsoll Line (2010 £15 million), which holds the investment in Flybe Plc and the £33 million impairment (2010 £12 milion) of the
Coampany's investment in BA European Limited, which holds the Group's investment in Openskies

18 Available-for-sale financial assets

Group Company
£ milhon 201 2010 201 2010
Awailabla-for-sale financial assets 39 65 24 8

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at farr value For listed investments the fair value compnses the market price at the balance sheet
date For unlisted investments the fair value 1s estimated by reference to an earnings multiple model or by reference to other valuation methods

In December 2010 Flybe Ltd listed on the London Stock Exchange and became Flybe Plc The Group invested a further £9 million in Flybe Plc in
order to maintain a 15% holding, increasing the value of the holding in Flybe Plc to £50 millon As a result of the hsting, Flybe Plc is classified as a
Level 1 financial asset and measured at its fair value (market pnce) The valuation at 31 December 2011 showed a decline in fair value and accordingly
the Group recognised a net impairment charge of £16 million i the income statement (note 9)

Available-for-sale investments include investments in listed ordinary shares, which by their nature have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate

The table below shows total isted and unhsted avalable-for-sale investments

Group Company
£ million paviil 2010 2011 2010
Listed 24 47 9
Unhisted 15 % 15 18
Ar 31 December 39 &5 24 8

For a summary of the movement in avallable-for-sale financial assets, refer to note 29
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19 Inventornies

Group Company
£ mifon 201 2010 201 2010
Expendables and consumables 139 58 137 96
20 Trade receivables
Group Company
£ million o 2010 2011 2010
Trade recevables 470 393 458 377
Prowvision for doubtful receivables (10 e {10) 9
Net trade receivables 460 384 448 368
Movements in the provision for doubtful recervables were as follows
£ milion Graup Company
At1Apnl 2010 0 0
Provision for doubtful recewables 2 2
Recewvables written off during the pened () o
Unused amounts reversed () 2)
At 31 December 2010 9 2
Provision for doubtful receivables 4 4
Recewables written off duning the year 2) (2)
Unused amounts reversed m 4]
At 31 December 2011 i0 10
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows
Past due but not impaired
Neither past due
£ mihon Total nor imparred < 30 days 30 - 60 days » 60 days
Group
31 December 2011 460 379 58 10 13
31 December 2010 384 345 25 4 10
Caompany
31 December 2011 443 3N 54 10 13
31 December 20i0 368 339 8 2 g
Trade receivables are generally non-interest-bearnng and on 30 days terms
21 Other current assets
Group Company
£ milon 201 2010 201 2010
Amounts owed by subsidianes 190 72
Other debtors o 99 100 99
Prepayments and accrued income 172 167 119 106
At 31 December 73 260 409 377
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22 Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits
a Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
£ mihon 2on 2010 am 2010
Cash at bank and i hand 569 614 530 589
Short-term deposits falling due within three months 1 165 164
Cash and cash equivalents 570 779 530 753
Other current Interest-beanng deposits matunng after three months 1,259 1173 : 1,242 1153

Cash at bank 1s primanly held \n AAA money market funds and bank deposits Shon-term deposits are made for penods up to three months
depending on the cash requirements of the Group and earn interest based on the floating deposit rates The fair value of cash and cash equivalents 1s
£570 milbon for the Group (2010 £779 milhon)} and for the Company £530 million (2010 £753 mullion)

Cash and cash equivalents includes £66 million of restnicted cash at 31 December 2011 (2010 £nil), being cash deposited by the Company which is I
not avalable for general use by the Group The cash deposited will be used to sausfy the terms of a funding agreement with the APS and NAPS

Pension Trustees with the balance returnad to the Group The finat amount required to settle the agreemeant with the Pension Trustees 1s subject to
uncertainty, but will not be in excess of the £66 milhion

At 31 December 2011, the Group and Company had no outstanding bank overdrafts (2010 Enil}

Other current interest-bearing deposits are made for penods 1n excess of three months with matunty typically within 12 months and earn interest
based on the market rates available at the time the deposit was made

b Reconciliation of net cash flow te movement in net debt
Group

£ mitlion 201 2010

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the pernod {255) (37

Net cash outflow from decrease in debt and lease financing 484 449

Increase i other current interest-bearing deposits 86 245

New loans and finance leases taken aut and hire purchase arrangements made (236) (368)

Decrease innet debt resulting from cash flow 79 289

Exchange movernents and other non-cash movements 8 {2

Decrease innet debt duning the penod 87 287

Net debt at start of year/penod {2,001) {2.288)

Net debt 31 December (1,914) (2,000 '

¢ Analyus of net debt i
Graup |

Balance at
£ milion beginning of Net Cther Balance at |
penod Cash flow non-cash Exchange 31 December ‘

Cash and cash equivalents 786 (37 30 779 ‘

Current nterest-beanng deposits matuning after three months 928 245 1173 l

Bank and other loans (1484) (85) (16} 23 (161

Finance leases and hire purchase arrangements {2518} 169 {14} 2! (2342}

At 31 December 2010 (2258) 289 (30} 28 2001

Cash and cash equivalents 779 (255) 46 570

Current interest-beanng deposits maturing after three months 1173 86 1,259

Bank and other foans {1611} 128 (10) 23) (1.516)

Finance leases and hire purchase arrangements (2,342) 120 (20) 15 (2,227

At 31 Dacember 2011 {2.001) 79 (30) 38 (1.914)

Net debt compnises the current and non-current portions of long-term borrowings less ¢ash and cash equivalents and other current interest-beanng
deposits
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23 Trade and other payables

Group Company
£ milion 2m 2010 2o 2010
Trade creditars 857 rav 814 679
Unredeemed frequent fyer habiitias 6 4 [ 4
Amounts owed to subsidiary comparies 2,709 2,672
Other creditors.
Other creditors 567 475 566 41
Other taxation and social secunty 27 36 26 35
594 sn 592 506
Accruals and deferred income
Sales in advance of carnage 750 755 707 715
Accruals and deferred income 910 828 645 527
1,660 1,583 1,352 1,242
At 31 December 317 2815 5,473 5103
24 Other long-term liabilities
Graup Company
£ million 201 2010 2011 2010
Other creditors 7 7]
Accruals and deferred income 288 296 258 265
At 31 December 295 306 258 265
25 Long-term borrowings
Group Company
£ mithon 201 2010 201 2010
a Current
Bank and other loans* 192 77 165 152
Finance leases** 180 217 195 230
Hire purchase arrangements 13 63 13 &3
Loans from subsidanes 1" Hi
At 31 December 385 457 384 456
b Non-current
Bank and other loans” 1,324 L434 1,038 1120
Finance leases*™ 2,029 2044 2,172 2202
Hire purchase arrangements 5 18 5 18
Loans from subsidianes 381 397
At 31 December 3,358 349 3,596 3737

** Included in finance leases for the Company 15 £158 million (2010 £171 mullion) of finance leases with other subsidianes of the Group, of which £15

milhon (2010 €13 mallion) 1s classified as current.
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Bank and other loans are repayable up to the year 2024 Bank and other loans of the Group amounting to US$276 mitlion (2010 LiS$314 milkon),
€68 million (2010 €70 million), ¥47,268 million (2010 ¥53,939 mihon) and £297 million {2010 £332 msllion), and bank loans of the Company
amountng to US$276 million (2010 US$314 milhon), €68 milien (2010 €70 million), ¥47,268 millon (2010 ¥53,939 million) and £125 million
(2010° £146 million) are secured on awcraft. Euro-sterling notes, other loans and loans from subsidiary undertakings are not secured Finance
leases and hire purchase arrangements are all secured on arcraft or other property, plant and equipment.
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25
¢

Long-term borrowings continued
Bank and other loans

Bank and other loans comprise the following

Group Company
£ million 2011 2010 2011 2010
£350 milion fixed rate 5 8 per cent convertible bond 2014 (1) 293 285 293 285
£250 milhon fixed rate 875 per cent eurobonds 2016 (u} 248 248 248 248
Floating rate sterhng mortgage oans secured on aircraft (m) 156 171 116 128
Floaung rate US dollar mortgage loans secured on arcraft {iv) 36 49 36 49
Fixed rate sterling mortgage loans secured on arrcraft (v) 141 160 9 17
Floating rate Japanese yen mortgage loans secured on aircraft (i) 388 415 388 415
Floaung rate LS dollar mortgage loans secured on plant and equipment (vii) 29 36 29 36
Floating rate eura mortgage loan secured on aircraft (vii) 57 50 57 &0
Fixed rate US dollar mortgage loan secured on aircraft {Ix) 141 153
Eurcpean Investment Bank sterling loans secured on property (x} 27 34 27 34
1.516 L& 1,203 1272
Less cumrent mstalments due on bank loans 192 177 165 152
At 31 December 1,324 1434 1,038 1120
(1} €350 milhon fixed rate 58 per cent convertible bond, raising cash of £341 milion (net of 1ssue costs), convertible into ordinary shares at the
option of the holder, before or upon matunty in August 2014 The bond was ongmnally convertible into ordinary shares of the Company
Following the merger, bondholders are now eligible to convert their bonds into ordinary shares of IAG instead of shares in the Company
Conversion into ordinary shares wiil occur at a premium of 38 per cent on the Group's share price en the date of 1ssuance The Group hold an
option to redeem the convertible bond at its principal amount, together with accrued interest, upon fulfiiment of certain pre-determined cniteria
During the prior year the equity portion of the convertible bond 1ssue was included in other reserves Following the merger it converted to a
denvative financial instrument
()  E£250 million fixed rate 8 75 per cent unsecured eurcbonds 2016 are repayable in one instaiment on 23 August 2016
() Floaung rate sterhing mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest of between 053 per cent and 059
per cent above LIBOR The loans are repayable between 2015 and 2019
{iv) Floating rate US dollar mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest of 099 per cent above LIBOR. The
loans are repayable by 2016
(v} Fixed rate sterling mortgage toans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest at 6 3 per cent to 735 per cent. The
loans are repayable between 2012 and 2018
(v) Floating rate Japanese yen mortgage loans are secured on specific arrcraft assets of the Group and bear interest of 0 55 per cent above LIBOR
The loans are repayable between 2014 and 2016
(vi} Floatng rate US dollar mortgage loans are secured on certain plant and equipment of the Group and bear interest of 075 per cent above

LIBOR. The loans are repayable in 2014

(vin) The floatng rate eurc mortgage loan 1s secured on specific arcraft assets of the Group and bears interest of 05 per cent above LIBOR. The loan

(1<}

x

1s repayable in 2024

Fixed rate LS dollar mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group These |oans bear an average interest of 4 63 per cent
and are repayable between 2021 and 2022

European Investment Bank loans are secured on certain property assets of the Group and bear interest of between 02 per cent and 00 per
cent below LIBOR. The loans are repayable between 2014 and 2017
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25 Long-term borrowings continued

d Total loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements
Group Company
milthon 20N 2010 201 2010
Loans
Bank.
US dollar S302 $369 5102 $132
Euro €68 €70 €68 €70
Japanese yen ¥47,268 ¥53939 ¥47,268 ¥53,939
Sterling £324 £365 £152 £179
£975 £1,078 £662 £730
Fixed rate bonds
Sterling £541 £533 ES41 £533
Loans from subsidiary undertakings
us dollar $220 $237
Euro €300 €300
£392 £408
Finance leases
US dollar 31,929 $1.940 41,029 $1,940
Euro €139 €130 €139 €130
Japznese yen ¥3,327 ¥3,268 ¥3,327 ¥3,268
Sterling £832 £876 €990 £1,047
£2,209 £2,261 £2,367 £2,432
Hire purchase arrangements
Us dollar $28 $46 528 $46
Japanese yen ¥6,604 ¥6,604
Sterling
€18 £8t E18 £81
At 31 December £3,743 £3,953 £3,980 £4,193

e Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

The Group uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts pnincipally to acquire aircraft These leases have both renewal options and purchase
options These are at the option of the Group Future mimimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are as follows

Group Company
£ million 20m 2010 2m 2010
Future mimum payments due
Within one year 259 339 282 361
After more than one year but withun five years 1,1 1094 1,214 Lig0
In five years or more 1,174 1235 1,242 1330
2544 2668 2,735 2881
Less Finance charges n7 326 350 358
Presen: value of mimimum lease payments 2,227 2342 2,385 2513
The present value of mimimum lease payments s a2nalysed as follows
Within one year 193 250 208 293
Alter more than one year but wathin five years 927 905 1,007 877
In five years or more 1,107 Lisz 1,170 1243
At 31 December 2,217 2342 2,385 2513
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26 Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties, equipment and aircraft. These leases have durations ranging from five years for

arcraft to 150 years for ground leases Certain leases contain options for renewat

a Fleet

The aggregate payments, for which there are commitments under operating leases fall due as follows

Group Company
£ milhan - 201 2010 2011 2010
Within one year 63 73 63 67
Between one and five years 144 265 137 261
OQver five years 109 297 109 297
At 31 December 316 635 309 625
b Property and equipment
The aggregate payments, for which there are commitments under operating teases fail due as follows
Group Company
£ milhen 201 2010 2011 2010
Within one year 84 89 81 86
Between one and five years 251 290 237 281
Over five years, ranging up to the year 2145 1,692 1756 1,682 1754
At 31 December 2,027 2135 2,000 2121

¢ Sub-leasing

The Group and Company sub-lease surplus rental properties and arcraft assets held under non-cancellable leases to third parties and
subsidiary companies These leases have remaining terms of one to 35 years and the assets are surplus to the Group's requirements Future

minimum rentals receiwvable under non-cancellable operaung leases are as follows

Group Company
£ millon 2011 2010 2011 2010
Fleet
Within one year 4 7
At 31 December 4 7
Property and equipment
Within one year 8 &g 8 8
Between one and five years 18 26 18 26
At 31 December 26 34 26 34

S0




British Airways Plc

27 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group
Restoration
Cnerous and
Insurance lease handback
£ milhon provisions contracts provisions  Restructunng Lingauon Other Tatal
At 1January 201
Current 1 24 20 230 8 283
Mon-current 24 6 89 32 13 164
24 7 13 20 262 21 447
Ansing dunng the year i5 25 39 35 114
Uthsed @ (13} (1 (153} (25) (204)
Release of unused amounts m {2} &) (13} (2 (2 (39)
Exchange 1 m @ @
Unwinding of discount 2 g 1
At 31 December 2011 13 3 109 n 154 27 327
Analysis
Current 5 b 21 96 15 148
Non-current 8 3 98 S8 12 179
13 3 109 2 154 27 327
Company
Restoration
Cnerous and
lease handback
£ milion coentracts provisions  Restructunng Lingation Other Total
AT 1 January 201
Current 22 20 230 8 280
Non-current 6 88 32 13 139
6 1o 20 262 21 49
Ansing dunng the year 14 24 39 34 m
Utihised (1} (12} an {153) (25) (202)
Release of unused amounts 2) (9 (13) )] (2) (28)
Exchange 1 m @ 2
Unwinding of discount 2 g T
At 31 December 2011 3 106 20 154 26 309
Analysis
Current B 20 96 15 139
Non-current 3 98 58 1l 170
3 106 20 154 26 309

Insurance provisions relate to provisions held by the Group's captive insurer, Speedbird Insurance Company Limited, for incurred but not reported
losses This provision 1s expected to be fully utihised by 2017 Such prowisions are held until utihsed or such time as further claims are considered
unlikely under the respective insurance policies

The onerous lease provision in the prior year includes the sub-lease of six Avro RJ10Q aircraft to Swiss International Awrr Lines This provision was

fully utiised dunng 2011 tn addition, the provision includes amounts relating tc properties leased by the Group that are either sub-leased to third
parties or are vacant with no immedsate intention to utihse the property This provision is expected to be fully utiised by 2027
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27 Provisions for liabilities and charges continued

Restoration and handback costs include provision for the costs to meet the contractual return conditions on aircraft held under operating leases The
provision also includes amounts relating to leased land and buildings where resteration costs are contractually required at the end of the lease Where
such costs anse as a result of capital expenditure on the leased asset, the restoration costs are also capitalised This provision will be utiised by
March 2051

The Group recognised a restructuring provision of £21 mulion at 31 December 2611 (2010 £20 mihon) including targeted voluntary severance
schemes previously announced This provision 1s expected to be utilised during the next financial year

There 15 an ongoing Competition Act investigation by the UK Office of Fair Trading into the Company's passenger fuel surcharges for the penod
prior to March 2006 The Company 15 also subject to class action claims regarding cargo fuel surcharges in various jurisdictions The Company 15 also
subject to multi-party claims from groups of employees on a number of matters relating to its operations including claims for additional holiday pay
and for age discnmination  The final amount required to pay the remaining claims and fines 1s subject to uncertainty A detaled breakdown of the
prowision 15 not presented as it may senously prejudice the position of the Company in the regulatory investigation and potential litigation

Cther provisions include staff leaving indemruties relating to amounts due to staff under various overseas contractual arrangements
28 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is expaosed to a vanety of financial nsks market nisk (including foreign currency nisk, interest rate nsk and fuel price nsk), credit risk, capital
nsk and liquidity nsk. The Group's overall nsk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance

Group Treasury carries out financial nsk management under governance approved by the Board Group Treasury wdentifies, evaluates and hedges
financial nsks The Board provides wntten principles for overall nsk management, as well as wntten policies covenng specific areas, such as foreign
exchange nsk, interest rate nisk, credit risk, use of denvative financial instruments and investment of excess hquidity

3 Fuel price nsk

The Group 1s exposed to fuel price nsk The Group's fuel price nsk management strategy aims to provide the airline with protection aganst sudden
and significant increases in oIl prices while ensuring that the arline 1s not competitively disadvantaged in the event of a substantial fall in the price of
fuel The current Group strategy, as approved by the Board, 1s to hedge between 70 per cent and 100 per cent of fuel consumption for the next
quarter; an average of 45 per cent between quarters two and five, and 10 per cent between quarters six and eight, with the flexibility to operate
within +/- 10 per cent of the policy

In implemenung the strategy, the fuel nisk management programme allows for the use of a number of derivatives available on the over-the-counter
{QOTC) markets with approved counterparites and within approved hmits

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financial mstruments to a reasonably possible change in fuel prices, with all other vanables held
constant, on profit before tax and equity”

Group Company
31 December 2011 31 December 2010 31 December 2011 31 Dacember 2010
Increase/  Effect on lncreases  Effecton Increase/  Effect on Increases/  Effecton
(decrease) profit {decrease) profit [decrease) profit {decrease) profit
w fuel before  Effect on 1 fusf before  Effecton tn fuel before  Effect on i fuel before  Effecton
price tax equity price tax aquity price tax equity price tax equity
per cent £ mithon £ mithon percent £ muflon £ mutfion per cent £ milhion £ million per cent £ million £ mihon
30 g 539 30 {4} 420 30 9 539 30 5) 420
{30) (3) (505) 30} (i6} (340) (30) 3 (505) 30) (15} (340)
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28 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued
b Foreign currency nsk

The Group 1s exposed to currency risk on revenue, purchases and borrowings that are denorminated in a currency other than sterling. The currencies
in which these transactions are primarily denominated are US dollar, euro and Japanese yen (yen) The Group generates a surplus in most currencies
i which it does business The US dollar 1s an exception as capital expenditure, debt repayments and fuel payments denominated in US dollars
normally create a deficit.

The Group can experience adverse or beneficial effects ansing from foreign exchange rate movements The Group seeks to reduce foreign exchange
exposures ansing from transactions in vanous currencies through a policy of matching, as far as possible, receipts and payments in each individual
currency Surpluses of convertible currencies aresold, either spot or forward, for US doilars or pounds sterling

The Group has substantial habiities denominated in US dollar, euro and Japanese yen

The Group utihses its US dollar, euro and yen debt repayments as a hedge of future US dollar, euro and yen revenues

Forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options are used to cover near-term future revenues and operating payments n a vanety of
currencies

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financal instruments to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar, euro and Japanese yen
exchange rates, with all other varables held constant, on prefit/{loss) before tax and equity

Strengthening

/{weakening) Effect on Strengthening/ Effect on Strengthening/ Effect on
in US dollar profit Effect on {weakenming) profit Effect on {weakening) profit Effect on
rate before tax equity 1N euro rate befare tax equity In yen rate before tax equity
Group per cent £ million £ million per cent £ milion £ million per cent £ million £ milton
31 December 10 (12) (10) 10 m &N 10 - (42)
2011 {10} 12 7 (10} 1 64 (10) - 42
3 0 A 79) 0 2 (33) o &7 (49}
! December (1) 4 79 (10 2 5 (10) 3 49
2010
Strengthening
/{weakening) Effect on Strengthening/ Effect on Strengthening/ Effect on
in US dollar profit Effect on {weakening) profit Effect on (weakening) profit Effect on
rate before tax equity in euro rate before tax equity In yen rate before tax aquity
Company per cent £ milion £ milion per cent £ millon £ million per cent £ milion £ milhon
31 December 10 (14) (0 10 @) ()] 10 - (42)
2011 (10} 14 7 ) 2 64 (10) - 42
o (6) 79 0 @ (35} 0 3) (43)
;’; ’L.Doecember (10 & 79 (1o 2 35 (o) 3 49
c Interest rate nsk

The Group 1s exposed to changes it interest rates on floating rate debt and cash deposits Had there been a 50 basis point increase in interest rates,
there would have been less than £1 milllon (2010 Enil) impact on the Group and Company's shareholders’ equity, and a £nil (2010 £1 milion) impact
to both the Group and Company's income statement A 50 basis point decrease in interest rates would have resulted in a £nil (2010 Enif} impact to
shareholder equity or the income statement for both Group and Company
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28 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
d Credit nsk

The Group is exposed to credit nsk to the extent of non-performance by 1ts counterparties in respect of financial assets recevable However, the
Group has policies and procedures in place to ensure credit risk 1s limuted by placing credit mits on each counterparty  The Group contnuously
monitors counterparty credit lmits and defaults of counterparties, incorporating this information into credit nsk controls Treasury activities which
include placing money market deposits, fuel hedging and foreign currency transactions could lead to a concentration of different credit nsks on the
same counterparty This nsk 1s managed by the allocation of an overall exposure mit for the counterparty that 1s then allocated down to specific
treasury activities for that party Exposures at the actrnity level are monitored on a dally basis and the overall exposure imit for the counterparty 15
reviewed at least monthly in the light of avallable market information such as credit ratings and credit default swap levels It1s the Group’s policy that
all countetparties who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures

The maximum exposure to credit nsk 1s imited to the carrying value of each class of asset as summansed in note 29

The Group does not hald any collateral to mitigate this exposure Credit nisks anising from acting as guarantor are disclosed i note 34

e Liquidity nsk

Prudent hiquidity nsk management includes mantaining sufficient cash and interest bearing deposits, the avalability of funding from an adequate
amount of credit faciities and the ability to close out market positions Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, Group Treasury

mamtains flaxability 1n funding by maintaimng availability under committed credst lines

The Company’s long-term corporate debt ratngs at 31 December 2011 assigned by Moody's and Standard and Poor's respectively were Bt and BB-
The Group has adequate cash reserves to meet operating requirements for the next 12 months

The stability of the iquidity pasition 1s maintaned through the group having no financial covenants or matenal adverse change clauses in its drawn
and undrawn debt faciities In addition, fuel and currency hedging 15 carned out on an open credit basis with no collateralisatiten or margin call
requirements

At 31 December 2011 the Group and Company had unused overdraft facilities of £10 milion (2010 £10 million)

The Group and Company held undrawn uncommtted money market lines of £25 million as at 31 December 2011 (2010 £25 milkon)

The Group and Company had the following undrawn general and committed aircraft financing facilities

31 December 2011

milien Currency £ equivalent
LIS dollar facility expiring June 2012 $589 377
Us dollar facility expiring June 2013 $504 322
US dollar faciity expining September 2016 $965 618
US dollar facility exptring October 2016 $509 325

31 December 2010

million Currency £ equivalent
Japanese yen facility expinng January 2011 ¥7784 60
US dollar facihity expinng June 2012 $696 448
US dollar faclity expinng June 2013 $708 456
US dollar facibty expiring September 2016 $966 622
US dollar facility expinng October 2016 $509 327
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28 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

e Liquidity risk continued

The table below analyses the Group's financial Liabiities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining pertod at the balance sheet 1o the

contractual matunty date The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and include interest.

Group
£ erullion Wwithin 6 6-12 1- 2 years 2-5years Moare than 5 Total
months months years 201
Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations (102) (157 (251} {820) (1.174) 2,544)
Fixed rate borrowings (41 {49) (81) ) (123) (1,065)
Floating rate borrowings {87 {79) (167) {321) (65) {719)
Trade and cther payables (1,739) (1,739)
Denvative financial mstruments
Cross currency swaps (1} () (2)
Forward currency contracts 21 12 2 35
Fuel denvatives 6 8 4) 10
Currency 0plion Contracts 2 2 1 5
Converuble bond denvatve liability {(5) {52)
At 31 December (1,940) (263) (540) (1,965) {1,363) (6,071)
Group
Withmn 6 &-12 More than § Total
Emilhon months months I-2years 2-Syears years 2010
Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations (210) (129) (245) (849) (1,235) (2,668)
Fixed rate borrowings (42} (48} (50) (509) {459) {11458)
Floating rate borrowings (85) (68) (145) {375) 1240 (793)
Trade and other payables (1,228) {1.228)
Denvative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps Q)] (2) () (4}
Forward currency contracts 3 3 &
Fuel denvatives B2 44 19 145
Forward curvency contracts (8) (2) (1o}
At 31 December (1 488) 200} (462} (1,735} (1815) (5,700}
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28 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

e Liquidity risk continued
Company
Within & 6-12 _ . More than 5 Total
E milion months months 1-2years 2-5 years years 201
Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase abligations ms3) 169} (314) (897) (1,242} (2,735)
Fixed rate borrowings (43) (43) 77 (731} (720} (1,614)
Floaung rate borrowings (83) {78) {163} (301) (52) (677)
Trade and other payables (4,141} (4,141)
Dervative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps U] (1) @
Farward currency contracts 21 12 2 35
Fuel derivatives a E (4 10
Currency option contracts 2 2 1 5
Convertible bond denvative liability (52} (52)
At 31 December (4,351) (268) (555) (1,982 {2.015) (9,171)
Company
With 6 &-12 More than 5 Total
£ million months months 1-2years 25 years years 2010
Interest-beanng loans and borrowtngs
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations (221 (140} {267} (923) (1330} (2881)
Fixed rate borrowings (43} (43} 87} (496) 1037 (L7086}
Floaung rate borrowings (82} (68} (141} (361) (96} (748)
Trade and other payables (3857} (3857
Denvatve financial instruments
Cross currency swaps th 2) m r4)
Forward currency contracts 3 3 &
Fuel derivatives 82 44 19 145
Farward currency contracts 9 (2) 1y
At 31 December (4,127 208) (477) {1782} (2464} 9055)
f Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 1o maintain an optimat capital structure to reduce the cost of camtal

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group montors capital on the basis of the geaning ratic, net debt as a percentage of total capital Net debt
1s defined as the total borrowings, finance leases and hire purchase liabilities, net interest-bearing deposits and cash and cash equivalents less

overdrafts See note 22 for details of the calculation of net debt Total capnal 15 defined as the total of capital, reserves, non-controlling interests and
net debt

The geanng ratios at each period end were as follows

Group

31 December 31 Dacember

£ milhon (except ratios) 201 2010
Shareholders equity 2,582 2200
Add non-controlling interests 200 200
Total equity 2,782 2400
Net debt (a) 1,914 2001
Total capital (b) 4,696 4,401
Geanng ratro (a)/(b) 408 455
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29 Financal instruments
a Farr values of financial assets and financial habdities

The fair values of the Group's financial nstruments are disclosed in hierarchy levels depending on the nature of the 1nputs used in determimng the fair

values as folfows.

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) m active markets for identical assets or habilites,

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level |, that are observable for the asset or liabiity, either directly or indirectty, and

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and habihities at 31 December 2011 are set out below

Group
Fair value Carrying value
£ mihon Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 24 15 39 39
Forward currency contracts® 35 a5 35
Fuel denvatves* 39 39 39
Currency option contracts® 5 5 5
Finanaial habilities
Interest-beaning loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations 2,403 2,403 2,237
Fixed rate barrowings 544 318 862 824
Floatng rate borrowings 692 692 692
Crass currency swaps*® 2 2 2
Fuel derivatives™ 29 29 29
Convertible bond derivative liability*™* 52 52 52
*  Current portion of dernvative financial assets 1s £73 milion
** Current portion of denvative financial liabthties 1s £21 milhion
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and labilities at 31 December 2010 are set out below
Group
Far value Carrying value
£ million Level ! Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 47 18 65 65
Forward currency contracis® 6 & &
Fuel denvatives® 45 145 45
Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance leasa and hire purchase obligatwons 2432 2432 2342
Fixed rate borrowings 675 346 102! 846
Floaung rate borrowings 765 765 765
Cross currency swaps*® 4 4 4
Forward currency contracts™* 10 10 o

*

Current poruon of denvative financial assets s £132 milion
** Current portion of derwvative financial habiities 1s £10 million
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29 Financial instruments continued
a Fair values of finanaal assets and financial habihties continued

The farr values of the Company's financial assets and habilities at 31 December 2011 are set out below

Company
Fair value Carrying value
£ mthon Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 9 15 24 24
Forward currency contracis® 36 36 6
Fuel derivatives*® 39 39 39
Currency option contracts” 5 5 5
Financial habilities
Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligatons 2,583 2,583 2,385
Fixed rate borrowings 544 424 968 943
Floating rate barrowings 652 652 652
Cross currency swaps™ 2 2 2
Forward currency contracts*® 1 1 1
Fuel denvatives** 29 29 29
Convertible bond dervatuve habihty*™™* 52 52 52
* Current portion of derivative financial assets s £74 million
** Current portion of denvative financial habilities 1s £22 million
The fair values of the Company's financial assets and habiities at 31 December 2010 are set out below
Company
Fair value Carrying value
£ mullion Levei | Level 2 Level 3 Tozal Total
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 18 18 18
Forward currency contracts® 6 & &
Fuel dervatrves* 45 45 145
Financial liabilities
Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase abligatens 2621 2621 2513
Fixed rate borrowings 675 443 1118 958
Floating rate borrowings 722 722 722
Cross currency swaps™ 4 4 4
Forward currency contracts** " th i
Fuel denvatives** ! 7 !

>

Current portion of derivative financial assets 1s £132 million
** Current portion of derivative financial habibties 1s £11 million

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Group in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments

Available-for-sale financial assets and loan notes

Listed fixed asset investments (level 1) are stated at market value as at 31 December 2011 For other investments (level 3) the fair value cannot be

measured rehably, as such these assets are stated at hastonc cost less accumulated impairment losses,

Bank and other loans, finance leases, hire purchase arrangements and the non-Japanese yen denominated portions of hire purchase arrangements

carrying fixed rates of interest

The repayments that the Group 15 committed to make have been discounted at the relevant market interest rates applicable at 31 December 201

(tevel 2)

Japanese yan denominated portions of hire purchase arrangements carrying fixed rates of interest

These amounts relate to the tax equity portions of Japanese leveraged leases which are personal to the Group, cannot be assigned and could not be
refinanced or replaced in the same cross border market on a marked-to-market basis The carrying value of £Enit (2010 £51 million) s determined with

reference to the effective interest rate (level 2)

Euro-steriing notes and Euro-sterling bond 2016
These are stated at quoted market value (level 1)

Convertible bond 2014
These are stated at quoted market value (level 1)

Forward currency transactions and over-the-counter {QTC) fuel derivatives

These are stated at the market valee of instruments with similar terms and conditions at the balance sheet date (level 2)
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29 Financial instruments continued
b Level 3 financial assets reconciliation

The following table summarises key movements in level 3 financial assets

Group Company

E| 3 E)] 3

December Decemnber December December

£ milkon 201 2010 20U 2010

At beginning of penod 18 62 18 21

Repayment of loan notes (classified as avalable-for-sale financial assets) (4 4 {4) “

Interest accrued on koan notes (classified as avallable-far-sale financial assets) 1 H 1 H
Reclassification of avallable-for-sale investment to level 1* (41

At 31 December 15 18 15 8

* In the pnar year investment in Flybe Limited was reclassified from Level 3 to Level 1 as a result of the mstrument being listed on the London Stock Exchange in
December 2010

c Hedges
' Cash flow hedges

At 31 December 2011 the Group and Company held four principal nsk management activities that were designated as hedges of future forecast
transactions These were

« A hedge of a proportion of future long-term revenue receipts by future debt repayments in foreign currency hedging future foreign exchange nsk,
» A hedge of certain short-term revenue receipts by foreign exchange contracts hedging future foreign exchange nisk,

+ A hedge of certain short-term foreign currency operational payments by forward exchange contracts hedging future foreign exchange risk, and

» A hedge of future Jet fuel purchases by forward crude, gas oil and jet kerosene denvative contracts hedging future fuel price nsk.

To the extent that the hedges were assessed as highly effective, 3 summary of the amounts included In equity and the periods in which the related
cash flows are expected to occur are summarised below"

Group

Total

£ million Within 6 months 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years Morethan3 31 December

years 2011

Debt repayments to hedge future revenue Eil 29 73 97 32 262

Forward contracts to hedge future payments (22) {14) (4) {40)

Hedges of future fuel purchases (15) (0] 2 {20)

()] 8 7 97 32 202

Related deferred tax charge (50

Total amount included within equity 152
Notional value of financial instruments used as cash flow hedging instruments

Group Company

millon Nottonal Notional

amount amount

To hedge future currency revenues against US dotlars 781 $781

To hedge future operating payments in US dollars $973 $973

Hedges of future fuel purchases $3,417 33,417

Debrt repayments to hedge future revenue - LIS dollars $2,080 $2,080

-eure €207 € 207

- lapanese yen ¥50,595 ¥50,595
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29 Financial instruments continued
c Hedges continued

1 Cash flow hedges continued

Group

Total 31

Within 6 5-12 More than Dacember

£ imidlon months months 1-2 years 2-5years Syears 2010

Debt repayments to hedge future revenue 20 27 53 145 51 296

Forward cantracts 1o hedge future payments U] (4]

Hedges of future fuel purchases @8) (44) (23) )] {146)

(58) (18) 30 144 51 149

Retated deferred tax charge (40)

Total amount included within equity 109
Notional value of financial instruments used as cash flow hedging instruments

Group Company

Notional Notwonal

miflion amount amount

To hedge future currency revenuas against US dollars $508 $508

To hedge future operaung payments aganst US dollars $165 $165

Hedges of future fuel purchases $2,352 $2,344

Debt repayments to hedge future revenue - US dollars $2,158 $2,158

- euro €200 €200

- Japanese yen ¥63,8M1 ¥63,81

The ineffective portion recognised in the income statement that arose from hedges of future fuel purchases amounts to a loss of £11 mulion (2010

£2 milhon) There was no ineffective portion of ¢ash flow hedges other than hedges of future fuel purchases

n Fair valve hedges
The Group has no hedges designated as fair value hedges

1] Net investments 1n forelgn operations

The Group has no hedges designated as hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Company

The Company undertakes hedging activities on behalf of other comparies within the Group and performs the treasury actvities of the Group
centrally As a result, the disclosures above apply to the Company as for the Group

60




British Airways Plc

30 Share capital

Group and Company

12 months ended 31 December 2011

Nine months ended 31 December 2010

Number of

Number of

shares 000s € mullion shares 000s £ milicn
Allotted, called up and fulty paid
Ordinary share capital of 25 pence each
At beginming of penod 1,153,689 288 1153674 288
Exercise of options under Employee Share Opuon Schemes 5
Issue of shares to convertible bond holders 476 1
Cancellauion of shares (1.154,165) (289)
Ar 31 December - - 1153689 288
Al Ordinary shares of £2897 each
Issug of new shares 897 260
At 31 December 897 260 - -
A2 Ordinary shares of E2897 each
lssue of new shares 99 29
At 31 December S5 29 - -
B Ordinary shares of £1 each
Issue of new shares 1,000 1
Az 31 December 1,000 1 - -
At 31 December 1,996 290 1,153,689 288

Pursuant to the merger, the £0 25 ordinary shares of the Group and Company were cancelled by way of a scheme of arrangement under Part 26
of the Companies Act 2006, and Al, A2 and B class ordinary shares were 1ssued The Al and A2 class ordinary shareholders have full voting and
economic rights in accordance with the percentage of shares held The B class ordinary shareholders have full voung rights in accordance with

the percentage of shares held, however have mimimal economic rights attached to them
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31  Share options

The Group operates share-based payment schemes as part of the total remuneration package provided to employees — these schemes comprise
both share option schemes where employees acquire shares at a grant price and share award plans whereby shares are 1ssued to employees at no
cost, subject to the achievement by the Group of specified performance targets

All the schemes contained a proviston relating to change of control In accordance with rules of the relevant schemes (other than LTIP), options and
awards held by the parucipants were automatically exchanged for new opuons and awards, of equivalent value and on the same terms, to acquire
IAG shares All options granted under the LTIP were already exercisable at the merger date, and remained exercisable for a period of three months

subsequent to the merger before lapsing. Alternatively LTIP option holders could agree to exchange their existing options for the grant of new
eguivalent |1AG options -

Where the vesung of awards and options were subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions relating to the BA Group, the relevant scheme
committees have determined these schemes are now dependent on the performance of the IAG Group

Prior to the merger, awards were made under schemes operated by the Company and represented rights over its ordinary shares Subsequent to the

merger, awards to empltoyees of the Group and Company have only been made under the |AG Performance Share Plan and |1AG Bonus Deferral Plan,
operated by IAG, and represent rights over its ordinary shares

a Share Option Plan

The Bnuish Airways Share Option Plan 1999 (SOP) granted options to qualifying employees based on performance at an option price which was not
less than the market price of the share at the date of the grant (or the nominal value if shares are to be subscribed and this value 1s greater than the
market value) The options are subject to a three-year vestung period Upon vesting, options may be exercised at any time until the 10t anniversary of
the date of grant with the exception of grants made during the year ended 31 March 2005, when there was a single re-test after a further year which
measured performance of the Group over the four-year period from the date of grant. No further grants of options under the SOP will be made
other than those during the year ended 31 March 2006, in relauon to performance during the year ended 31 March 2005 (for which there will be no
re-testing)

b Long Term Incentive Plan

The British Asrways Long Term Incentive Plan (1996) (LTIP) awarded options to sentor executives conditional upon the Company's achievement of a
performance condition measured over three financial years If granted, all options may be exercised at any time until the seventh anniversary of the
date of grant and no payment Is due upon exercise of the options No further awards under the LTIP have been made since 16 June 2004

c Performance Share Plan

In 2005 the Group introduced the British Atrways Performance Share Plan 2005 (BA PSP) for key semor executives and 1n 2009 this was extended
to selected members of the wider management team A conditional award of shares 1s subject to the achievement of a varety of performance
conditions, which will vest after three years subject to the employee remaining employed by the Group No payment is due upon vesung of the
shares No further awards under the PSP have been made since 17 September 2010

d Deferred Share Plan

In 2006 the Group introduced the British Aurways Deferred Share Plan 2005 (DSP) granted to qualfying employees based on performance and
service tests It will be awarded when a bonus i1s tnggered subject to the employee remaining in employment with the Group for three years after the
grant date The relevant management population will receive a percentage of their bonus in cash and the remaiming percentage in shares through the
DSP The maximum deferral 1s 50 per cent. In September 2010, the Group awarded options to selected members of the management and non-
management population No further awards under the DSP have been made since 17 September 2010

e IAG Performance Share Plan

In 2011 the IAG Group introduced the IAG Performance Share Plan {IPSP), granted to senior executives and managers of the Company who are most
directly involved in shaping and delivening business success over the medium to long term A conditional award of shares 1s subject to the
achievement of 3 vanety of performance conditions, which will vest after three years subject to the employee remaining employed by the 1AG
Group The award made will vest based 70 per cent on meeting Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance conditions over the following three
financial years, and 30 per cent on achievement of JAG synergy targets No payment is required from individuals when the shares are awarded

f |AG Bonus Deferral Plan

In 2011 the 1AG Group introduced the IAG Bonus Deferral Plan (IBDP), granted to qualifying employees based on performance and service tests It
will be awarded when a bonus 1s triggered subject to the employee remaining in employment with the IAG Group for three years after the grant date
The relevant population will receive 50 per cent of therr bonus in cash and the remaining 50 per cent in shares through the IBDP
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31 Share Options continued

g Share options summary
Deferred Share Plan Performance Share Plan Long Term Incentive Plan
Weighted Weghted Weighted
Number of average far Number of shares average far Number of average farr
shares (000s) value {€) (000s) value (E) shares ('000s} value (£)
201 2010 201 2010 201t 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Qutstanding at beginming of perod 5,516 499 15,899 10702 377 678
Granted in the penod 5145 235 6,758 149 14 .
Exercised dunng the year **/*** (482} %6) (689) (212) {16)
Expired/cancelled (153) {32) (2,355) {1561 (15)
At 31 December 4,881 5,516 12,855 15,899 350 577
Of which exercisable 114 30 350 577
Share Opuon Plan 1AG Performance Share Plan IAG Bonus Deferral Plan
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Mumber of average exercise MNumber of shares average far MNumber of average far
shares {000s} price (£) (000s) value (£} shares {0005} value (£)
2om 2010 201 2010 201 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Qutstanding at beginning of perod * 7.085 8872 256 266
Granted in the penod 6,170 16 697 231
Exercised dunng the year **/*** (86) 94) 209 219
Expired/cancelled (1.374) (1700) 289 348 (34) 5)
At 31 December 5,625 7,085 249 256 6,136 692
Of which exercisable 5625 7085 249 256

accounted for in accordance with iIFRS 2

**  The average share price at the date of exercise for the SOP exercised s £2 63 (2010 £2 27)
Part of the exercise of share options dunng the year was met through shares previcusly held by Brish Airways Employees Benefits Trust

{Jersey) Limited

Range of exeraise prices 2011 for Share Option Plan

Optiens outstanding and exercisable

Weighted
Mumber of Wesghted average

average
shares exercise

remarning hfe
price
Range of exercise prices 000s (years) E
£157-£261 1132 112 166
£262 -£276 4,493 302 270
At 31 December 2011 5,625 264 249

Range of exercise pnces 2010 for Share Option Plan

Options outstanding and exercisable

Weghted
Number of weighted average
average
shares exercise
remamnng hfe
price
Range of exercise prices 000s (vears) £
E157-E£261 1237 215 165
E262-£320 5218 402 272
E321-£394 636 048 EF)
At 31 December 2010 085 338 256

For all outstanding share option schemes as at 31 December 2011, the weighted average remaining contractual life is two years (2010 three years)

For options granted during the year the weighted average option life was three years (2010 three years)
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Included within this balance are options over 416,538 (2010 636,073) shares that have not been recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 as the
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31 Share options conttnued
g Share option summary continued

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is esumated as at the date of grant using a binomal fattice or Monte-Carlo model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted The following table lists the inputs to the model for the IPSP options (2010
BA PSP options) granted in the period

31 December 3/ December

201 2010
Expected share price volatitity (per cent) 50 56
Histoncal volaulity {per cent) 50 56
Expected comparator group volatiity (per cent) 27-96 27- 119
Expected comparator correlaton {per cent) 40 39
Expected life of options (years) 3 3
Weighted average share price (£) 167 235

The expected life of the options 1s based on historical data and 1s not necessanly indicative of exercise patterns that may occur  Volatility was
calculated with reference to the Group's weekly share pnce volatiity The expected volaulity reflects the assumption that the historical volatility 1s
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessanly be the actual outcome The fair value of the IPSP (2010 BA PSP) also takes into account a
market condwion of total shareholder returns as compared to strategic competitors No other features of options granted were incorporated into the
measurement of fair value

The share-based payments charge has been recorded in the Income statement as follows

12 months to  Mire months to
31 December 31 December

201 2010
BA granted schemes 1 3
1P5P and IDBP schemes recharged from IAG 2
Total share-based payments charge recorded in employee costs 13 2
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32 Other reserves and non-controlling interests

E Group
Group
Equity
Unreabsed paruon of Non~-
Retained gans and Currency convertible controling
£ million earnings losses transiation bond Total interests®
Balance at | Apnl 2010 741 (175} 42 24 692 200
Profit for the pertod attnibutable to shareholders 157 . 157
Exchange differences and other movements (6} =2 (8}
Cost of share-based payment & [
Exercise of share options it )
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred 1o passenger revenue 27 27
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and oil costs ! !
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency differences iy (i
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges &7 67
Share of other movements i reserves of associates 48 48
Total ncome and expense for the period 204 84 2} 286
At [ fanuary 2011 945 < 40 84 978 200
Profit for the period attributable to shareholders 654 654
Exchange differences and other movements (4 4
Cost of share-based payment net of recharges 1 1
Exercise of share options (S} (5)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue 33 a3
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and ol costs 8 8
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency differences 6 6
Net change n fair value of cash flow hedges (86) (86)
Impact of changes in substantively enacted tax rates (4 (4)
Share of other movements in reserves of associates {2) 2
Revaluauon and reclassification of equity portion of convertible bond (221) (221)
Net movement on avalable-for-sale financial assets (13} (13)
Total ncome and expense for the year 658 (56) (4) (221) an
At 31 December 2011 1,603 {147) 36 (137 1,355 200

* Nen-controlling interests compnse €300 million of 675 per cent fixed coupon euro perpetual preferred securities issued by British Airways Finance
{lersey) LP in which the general partner 15 Bntsh Awrways Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company The holders of these
secunties have no nghts aganst Group undertakings other than the 1ssuing entity and, to the extent prescribed by the subordinated guarantee, the
Company The effect of the secunities on the Group as a whole, taking into account the subordinate guarantee and other surrounding arrangaments,
1s that the obhgations to transfer economic benefits in connection with the secunties do not go beyond those that would normally attach to
preference shares 1ssued by a UK company
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32 Other reserves and non-controlling interests continued

b Company

Company
Equity portion
Retained Unrealsed of convertible

£ milhon earmings  gamns and losses bond Total
Balance at 1 Apnl 2010 380 e 84 273
Profit for the year attnbutable to shareholders 228 228
Cost of share-based payment & I3
Exercise of share options a )
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue 27 27
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferved to fuel and oil costs ! !
Fair vatue of cash flow hedges transfesred to currency differences )] )
Net change in far value of cash flow hedges 67 &7
Total ncome and expense for the penod 233 84 317
At 1January 2011 6i3 {107) 54 590
Profit for the period attnbutable to shareholders 598 598
Exchange differences and other movements 1 1
Cost of share-based payment net of recharges 11 "
Exercise of share opuons S) (5)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue 33 33
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and ail costs 8 8
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency differences [ 6
Neat change in fair value of cash flow hedges (86) (86)
Impact of changes In substantively enacted tax rates (4) {4
Revaluation and reclassification of equity component of converuble bond (221} (221}
Total income and expense for the year 605 (43} (221} 34
At 31 December 2011 1,218 {150) 3N 931

The unrealised gains and losses reserve records fair value changes on available-for-sale investments and the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging
mstrument in a cash flow hedge that s determined to be an effective hedge

The currency translation reserve s used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidianes
and associates

The equity portion of convertible bond reserve represents the equity portion of the £350 million fixed rate 58 per cent convertible bond (note 25)
after deduction of transaction costs of £2 million Under the terms of the merger, the bondhalders are now eligible to convert their bonds into
ordinary shares of IAG instead of shares in BA In order to facilitate the 1ssuing of |AG equity, a guarantee was 1ssued from IAG to BA whereby IAG
have guaranteed the payment of the principal and interest to the bandholders In addition, BA will pay for shares in IAG on behalf of the bondholders
in the event of a conversion, at a predetermined price of £189 to allow BA to meet the conversion obligation As a result, the equity portion of the
convertible bond has been revalued and £221 million has been reclassified during 2011 to a denvative financial liability as 1t now represents BA's
obligation to deliver a fixed number of shares in IAG to the bondholders The dervative financal hability 15 revalued at the end of each reporung
period During the year ended 31 December 2011, the denvauve financial liability was revalued downwards by £169 million (nine months ended 31
December 2010 Eml}

Investment In own shares consisted of shares in the Company held by Bntish Airways Employee Benefits Trust for the purposes of the Employee
Share Qwnership plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan In the prior period the Group and Company held 795,733 shares for these schemes
Subsequent to the merger these shares were converted to IAG shares and are recogmised within available-for-sale financial assets
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33 Pension costs

The Company operates two funded principal defined benefit pension schemes in the UK, the Airways Pension Scheme (APS} and the New Airways
Pension Scheme (NAPS), both of which are closed to new members APS has been closed to new members since 31 March 1984 and NAPS closed to
new members on 31 March 2003 From 1 Apnl 2003 the Company commenced a new defined contnbution scheme, the British Airways Retirement
Plan (BARP), of which all new permanent employees over the age of 18 employed by the Company and certain subsidiary undertakings in the UK may
become members The assets of the scheme are held in separate trustee-administered funds

Benefits provided under APS are based on final average pensionable pay and, for the majonty of members, are subject to inflationary increases in
payment in ing with the Annual Review Orders (ARO) issued by the Government, which were historically based on the Retail Price Index {RPI) In
2010, the Government decided to use the Consumer Price Index (CPI) to set each ARQ Benefits provided under NAPS are based on final average
pensionable pay reduced by an amount (the ‘abatement’) not exceeding one and a half umes the Government's lower earnings imit  NAPS pension
increases are also linked to the ARQ and increases are capped at a maximum of five per cent 1n any one year In NAPS, annual pensionable pay
ncreases for active members are capped at RPI

Pension contributions for APS and NAPS were determined by actuarnal valuauons made as at 31 March 2009 using assumptions and methodclogies
agreed between the Company and the Trustees of each scheme At the date of the actuanal valuation, the market values of the assets of APS and
NAPS amounted to £5925 milion and £6,096 milhon respectively The value of the assets represented 852 per cent (APS) and 69 4 per cent
(NAPS) of the value of the benefits that had accrued to members after allowing for assumed increases in earmngs These valuations determined
employer contribution rates for future service of an average of 347 per cent of pensicnable pay for APS and 166 per cent of pensionable pay for
NAPS

{n order 1o address the deficits in the schemes, BA committed to deficit payments until 2023 for APS and 2026 for NAPS which, taken together with
future service costs, will see annual cash contnbuuons mantained at approximately £330 mithon in real terms In additton to cash contrnbutions
collateral was provided to APS, triggered in the event of BA's insolvency, of £230 milllon of guarantees (first 1ssued m 2007) and a further £250
million 1ssued in 2010 In NAPS the recovery plan included changes to future pension benefits, giving members a choiwce of lower accrual rates or
htgher contributions

Duning 2010 the trustees of APS purchased an insurance contract with Rothesay Life, which covers 20 per cent of the pensioner liabilities as at 18
June 2010 for an agreed list of members The insurance contract 15 based on future increases to pensions in ine with RP| inflation and will match
future obligations on that basis for that part of the scheme For the purpose of IAS 19 the insurance contract asset Is valued at £1,122 million as at 31
December 2011 The insurance contract can only be used to pay or fund employee benefits under the pension scheme

During the year the trustees of APS secured a longewity swap contract with Rothesay Life, which covers an additional 20 per cent of the pensioner
liabilities for the same members covered by the contract above The value of the c¢ontract 1s based on the difference between the value of the
payments expected to be recerved under this contract and the premiums payable by the Scheme under the contract. For the purpose of IAS 19 the
contract obligation 15 valued at £44 mdlion as at 31 December 2011 In addiuon, the Trustees have granted secunty over £68 mithon of the pension
assets in favour of Rothesay Life

Maost employees engaged outside the UK are covered by appropriate local arrangements The Company provides certain additional post-retirement
healthcare benefits to eligible employees in the US The Company participates in a mult-employer defined benefit plan operated in the US by the
International Association of Machinists ({AM) and presents the plan in the financial statements as if it were a defined contnbution plan as it 1s not
possible to allocate the assets and liabilities of the scheme due to the nature of the scheme Contributions to the IAM plan were £18 milhon (2010
£15 million) The Company also operates a closed US defined benefit plan and total contnbutions of £15 9 million are forecast to be made in 2012

Employer contributions in respect of overseas employees have been determined in accordance with best local practice

Total employer contributions to defined contribution pension plans both in the UK and overseas for the year ended 31 December 2011 were £30
million (mine months ended 31 December 2010 £20 million}

a Employee benefit schemes recogmised on the balance sheet
Employee Employee
benefit benefit
obhgauons assets
£ million 31 December 3/ December 31 December 3! December
201 2010 201% 2010
Arising under defined benefit pension plans and post-retrement benefits 63 65 1,100 575
Arnsing under post-retrement medical benefit plans 159 143
Total ansing under post-retirement benefits 22 208 1,100 575
Other employee benefit obligasons 10 Hi
At period end 232 218 1,100 575

At 31 December 2011, NAPS was recognised on the balance sheet as an asset. However, due to the level of unrecognised losses it holds, its net
position is a hability and therefore on all future tables within this note, i1t is included as an employee benefit obhgauon

Employee benefit assets refer to the Group and Company i all instances Employee benefit obligations iclude £6 million (2010 £7 mulken) relating
to British Airways Holidays Limited, with the remainder relatng to the Company
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33 Pension Costs continued

b Scheme assets and habilities
31 December 201t
Employee benefit obligauons Employee benefit assets
Other Other
£ milion NAPS schemes Total APS schames Total
Scheme assets at fair vatue
Equities 4530 162 4,692 689 16 705
Bonds . 3023 74 3,097 4,502 14 4,516
Others* 1548 9 1,557 1,729 4 1,733
Fair value of scheme assets 3101 245 9,346 6,920 34 6,954
Present value of scheme habilities 10,000 587 10,587 6,041 33 6,074
Net pension {labiity)/asset (899) (342) {1,241) 879 1 880
Net pension (habihty)/asset represented by
Net pension asset/{liability) recognised 508 (222) 286 584 8 592
Cumulative actuanal {losses)/gans not recognised (1,407) (120} {1,527) 295 @) 288
{899) {342) (1,241) 879 1 880
* Included within the APS balance are the insurance contract and longevity swap with Rothesay Life
3 December 2010
Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
Other Cther
£ millign NAPS sehemes Toral APS schemes Total
Scheme assets at fair value
Equities 5616 183 5789 88! 19 200
Bonds 1874 70 1944 3827 17 3844
Ozhers** 1142 0 1152 1677 1677
Fair value of scheme assets 8632 263 8895 6385 35 6427
Present vzlue of scheme liabilsties 8633 623 10256 5853 33 5886
Net pension {(hability)/asset (1001} (360) 361 532 3 535
Net pension (hability)/asset represenced by
Net pension asset/(liability) recogrised 204 (208) <4} 363 8 3zt
Restricuon on APS surplus due to the asset celing 123 123
Cumulative actuanal (fosses)/gams not recognised (1.208) (752} (1357) 46 £5) 41
o000 (360) 1361 532 3 535

** Included within the APS balance 1s the insurance contract with Rothesay Life
The pensicn plans have not invested in any of the Group's own financial instruments nor In properties or other assets used by the Group
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c Amounts recognised in the income statement
12 months ended 31 December 2011
Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
Other Other
£ million NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
Current service cost 132 8 140 9 1 10
Recognised in arnving at operating profit 132 8 140 9 1 10
Expected return on scheme assets . (605} (20) (625) (312) 2) (314)
NAPS administration expense " 1"
Interest costs on scheme liabihues 522 29 551 312 2 314
Amortisation of actuanal losses in excess of the corndor 17 9 26
Effect of the APS asset cetling (123) (123)
Qther finance {income)/ cost (55) 18 3N {123) - {123}

The value of the APS scheme assets 1s impacted by the asset ceiling test, which restricts the surplus that can be recogmised to only those amounts
that can be recovered through refunds or reductions in future contnbutions The asset celing has increased at 31 December 2011 resulting in a £123
milion credit to the income statement and a corresponding increase to the asset recognised on the balance sheet

Nine months ended 31 December 2010

Employee benefit obligations Emplayee benefit assets
Cther Other

£ million NAFPS schemes Total APS schemes Tota/
Current service cost 124 & 130 7 7
Recogmsed in arnving at operating profit 124 <) 130 7 - 7
Expected return on scheme assets (434} (4 (448) (245} i {246)
NAPS administration expense & 8
Interest costs on scherme labilities 410 23 433 250 H 251
Amorusation of actuanal losses i excess of the corndor 57 5 62
Immedate recognition of net actuanal gains (APS) (84) (84)
Effect of the APS asset celing 73 73
Other finance cost/ (income) 47 14 55 (8} - 6}
d Unrecognised cumulative actuarial gains and losses

Employee benefit obligauans Employee benefit assets

Other Other

£ milhon NAPS schemes Total APS schemas Total
Amount of unrecognised actuanal (losses)/gains at 1 Apnl 2010 (2103} (128) 2231 (171 (3} (174}
Actual retumn on scheme assets 595 7 513 173 2 175
Less. Expected returm on scheme assets (434} ) (448} {245) It/) [(248)
Actuanal gatns on plan assets 162 3 165 72} ! 71)
Actuanal losses on plan liabdities 879 32 647 373 3 370
Amortisation of actuanal losses in excess of the corndor 57 5 62
Immediate recaogmition of net actuanal gains (APS) {84) (84)
Cumulauve unrecognised actuanal losses at 31 December 2010 1209 {152) (1357) 45 5 41
Actual retem on scheme assets 303 {9} 294 a8 U] 800
Less Expected return on scheme assets (605) (20} (625) (312) 2) (314)
Actuanal {losses)/ gains on plan assets (302) 29 (331 489 3 436
Actuanal gains/(losses) on plan habiities 83 52 135 (240) i (239)
Amortisation of actuanal losses in excess of the corndor 17 9 26
Cumulative unrecognised actuanal {losses)/gains at 31 December 2011 {1,407 (120) (1,527 295 @ 288

The actuanal assumptions made for the expected rates of return on assets were derived by considertng best estimates for the expected long-term
real rates of return from the man asset classes and combining these in proportions for each scheme These assumed rates of return are net of
Investment expenses
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e Actuanal assumptions

31 December 2011 3! December 2010
Per cent per annum NAPS APS* Cther NAPS APS* Crther
schemes schemes

Inflation (CP) 2.25 215 30 29
Inflation (RPI) 30 29 18-46 15 34 05- 44
Rate of increase in pensionable pay” 30 29 20-85 35 34 28-85
Rate of increase 'of pensions tn payment 215 215 15-46 29 29 15-46
Discount rate 50 47 12-83 55 55 18-83
Expected rate of return on scheme assets 55 37 44-85 70 50 30-85

* Rate of increase in salaries 1s assumed to be in line with inflatton The first increase in pensionable pay Is assumed to be in February 2013 for APS

Rate of increase in healthcare costs is based on medical trend rates of 8 O per cent grading down to 50 per cent over six years (2010 8 5 per cent to

50 per cent over seven years)

In the UK, mortality rates are calculated using the standard SAPS morntahity tables produced by the CMi for APS and NAPS The standard mortahty
tables were selected based on the actual recent mortality experience of members and were adjusted to allow for future mortahty changes In the US,
mortality rates were based on the PPA12 mortality tables If the post-retirement mortality tables used for APS and NAPS were to be changed such
that the life expectancy of members was increased by one year, the defined benefit obligations would increase by around £200 milion in both APS

and NAPS

If the discount rate were to be decreased by Q1 per cent without changing any other assumptions, the defined benefit obligation would increase by

approximately £70 mitlion in APS and E190 mulhon in NAPS

A one percentage point change in the assumed rate of increase in healthcare costs would have the following effects

£ mithon

Effect on aggregate service cost and interest cost

Effect on defined benefit obligauon

Increase Decrease
(3 2
(32) 26

f Present value of scheme habilities

Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets

Other Other

£ mullion NAPS schemes Tora! APS schemes Total
As at 1 Apnl 2010 2969 579 10,548 6247 37 £278
Current service cost 124 & 130 7 7
interest cost 410 23 433 250 i 257
Benefits paid (229} (18 (247 (280) 2 (282}
Employee contnbutions 38 7 39 2 2
Actuanal {gains)/ losses (679} 32 (647} {373) 3 (370}
As at 31 December 2010 2633 623 10256 5853 33 5886
Current service cost 132 8 140 9 1 10
Interest cost 522 29 559 312 2 314
Benefits pad (254) (22) (276) (375) (2} (31T
Employee contributions 50 1 51 2 2
Actuanal (gains)/ losses (83) (52 (135 240 m 239
At 31 December 2011 10,000 587 10,587 6,044 33 6,074

The defined benefit obligation comprises £204 milhion (2010 £248 milhen) ansing from unfunded plans and £10,383 milhon (2010 £10,008 million)
from plans that are wholly or partly funded
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g Fair value of scheme assets

Employee benefit abligations Employee benefit assets

Other QOther

£ milkion NAPS schemes Toral APS schemes Toral
As at 1 Apnl 2010 8024 253 8277 6443 36 6,479
Expected return on plan assets 434 14 448 245 ! 246
NAPS administration expense (8 {8}
Employer contnbutions 211 10 227 47 47
Employee contnibutions . 38 H 39 2 2z
Benefits paid (229) (18) (247) (280) 2 (282}
Actuznal gains/(losses) 162 3 165 (72) ! 71}
As at 31 December 2010 8632 263 8895 6,385 36 6,421
Expected return on plan assets 605 20 625 312 2 314
NAPS administration expense (1 (1)
Employer contributions 381 12 393 107 1 108
Employee contributions 50 1 51 2 2
Benefits paid {254) (22) (276) (375) (2) (377)
Actuanal (losses)/ gains (302) (29) (331 489 3 486
At 31 December 2014 9,101 245 9,345 6,920 34 6,954
h Histery of expenence gans and losses

Employee benefit cbhigations Employee benefit assets

Other Other

£ midhon NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
As at 31 December 2011
Fair value of scheme assets 9101 245 9,346 6,920 34 6,954
Present value of defined benefit obligation (10000) (587 (10,587) (6,041 33 (6,074)
(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme {899} {342) 1,241) 879 1 880
Experience (gains)/ losses ansing on plan liabiines (83} (52) (135) 240 n 239
Expenence gains/ (losses) ansmg on plan assets (302 29 (331) 489 (3 436
As at 31 December 2010
Fair value of scheme assets 8632 263 8895 6,385 36 6,421
Present value of defined benefit obligation {9,633} (623) {10,256) {5.853) (33} (5.886)
{Deficit)/surplus in the scheme (1,001 (360) (1,361) 532 3 535
Expernence (gans)/ losses ansing on plan habilities (679) 32 647 (373) 3 (370)
Expenence gains/ (losses} arising on plan assets 162 3 165 72) 1 )
As at 31 March 2010
Faw value of scheme assets 8,024 53 8,277 6,443 36 5,479
Present value of defined benefit obligation (5,969) (579} (10,548) (6,247} (3N (6,278}
(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme (1,945} (326) (2.27) 196 5 201
Experience (gains)/ losses ansing on plan liabilities 2493 67 2,560 1.253 3 1,256
Expenence gains/ (losses) arising on plan assets 1,552 47 1,599 661 10 671
As at 31 March 2009
Fair value of scheme assets 6,049 203 6,252 5925 28 5953
Present value of defined benefit obligation (7,216} (497 7.Nn3) (5.065) (28) (5.093)
(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme {.167) {294) (1,461) 860 360
Experience (gans)/ losses ansing on plan labilities (980) 938 (882) (372) )] (373)
Expenence gains/ (losses) ansing on plan assets (1.964) (25} (1,989) (723) (9 {732)
As at 31 March 2008 (restated)
Fair value of scheme assets 7,348 22 7,569 6,668 35 6,703
Present value of defined benefit obligauon (7,705} (384) (8,089) (5,432) (29) (5,461%)
(Deficit)/surplus i the scheme (357) (163) (520) 1,236 6 1,242
Experience (gains)/ losses arising on plan liabiities (873) (28) {901) (616) 3 {613)
Expenence gains/ (losses) ansing on plan assets (489) 26) (515) 182 1 183

The directors are unable to determine how much of the pension scheme surplus or deficit recognised on transition to IFRS and taken directly
to equity 1s attnbutable to actuanal gains and losses since inception of those pension schemes
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34 Contingent habilities

There were contingent habilities at 31 December 2011n respect of guarantees and indemnittes entered into as part of the ordinary course of the
Group's business No matenal losses are likely to anse from such contingent iabilines A number of other lawsuits and regulatory proceedings are
pending, the outcome of which 1n the aggregate 1s not expected to have a material effect on the Group's financial position or results of operations

The Group and the Company have guaranteed certain borrowings, liabilities and commitments, which at 31 December 2011 amounted to £343 million
{2010 £391 miflion) and £592 millkon (2010 £645 million) respectively For the Company these included guarantees given in respect of the fixed
perpetual preferred securities 1ssued by subsidiary undertakings

The Group is involved 1n certan claims and htigation related to s operations In the opinton of management, labihties, if any, ansing from these
claims and htigation will not have a matenal adverse effect on the Group's consohdated financial position or results of operanons The Group files
Income tax returns in many junsdictions throughout the world Vanous tax authorities are currently examining the Group's income tax returns Tax
returns ¢ontain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations and the resolution of tax positions
through negotiauiens with relevant tax authonties, or through lit)gation, can take several years to complete While it 15 difficult to predict the ulimate
outcome tn some cases, the Group does not anticipate that there will be any maternal impact on the Group's financial position or results of
operations

35 Related party transactions

The Group and Company had transactions in the ordinary course of business during the year to 31 December 2011 (mine months to 31 December
2010) under review with related parties

Group Company
12 months to  Mite rmonths to 12months to  Mine months to
£ milbon 31 December 31 Decermber 31 December 31 December
2011 2010 201 2010
Parent-
Sales to/ purchases on behalf of parent 9
Purchases from parent 24
Amounts owed by parent 12
Associates
Sales to associates 80 37 80 37
Purchases from associates 124 42 124 42
Amounts owed by associates 4 7 4 !
Amounts owed 10 associates 28 7 28 7
Subsidiaries
Sales to subsidianes 122 67
Purchases from subsidhiaries 129 85
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 34 314
Amounts owed to subsichanes 3,258 3252

In addiuon, the Company meets certan costs of adrmnistenng the Group's retirement benefit plans, including the provision of support services to the

Trustees Costs borne on behalf of the retirement benefit plans amounted to £8 millien in relation to the costs of the Pension Protection Fund levy
(2010 £4 million)

Parent company - International Consolidated Airlines Group S A (|AG)

On 21 January 2011, BA and Iberia completed a merger to create a new leading airhne group IAG was formed and shares in IAG started trading on the
London Stock Exchange, with a secondary listing in Spain, on 24 January 2011 As a consequence, the Company 1s now owned by IAG

The transactions between the Group and IAG compnise mainly of a management fee in respect of services provided by |IAG and recharges between
the entities in respect of invoices settled on behalf of the other party

Additionally, duning the year a loan was provided by the Group to IAG, of which E12 million was outstanding at 31 December 2011 Interest under £1
milllon was charged on the loan dunng the year ended 31 December 2011

Transactions with IAG are carried out on an arms length basis

Duning the year, the Group purchased shares in IAG The Company held a £9 million investment in |AG as at 31 December 2011, which was classified
as an available-for-sale financial asset.
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Associates
IB Opco Holding, SL (Iberia)
The Group has a 13 55 per cent investment in Ibena Increased areas of opportunity for co-operation have been rdentified as a result of the merger

and work continues to pursue and implement these Sales and purchases between related parties are made at normal market prices and outstanding
balances are unsecured and interest free Cash settlement s expected within the standard settlement terms specified by the IATA Clearing House

In October 2010, the Group faunched the Joint Business Agreement [JBA"), a new venture with Amenican Airlines and lbera covenng flights between
Europe and North America The commencement of the JBA followed clearance from the EU and the grant of ant trust iImmunity by the US
Department of Transportauon, and allows pooling and shanng of certain revenues and costs, expanded codeshare arrangements, reciprocal earn and
burn arrangements for frequent flyer programs and co-operation In other areas Transactions and balances with Ibena ansing from this arrangement
are included in the 2011 disclosures above

As at 31 December 2011 the net trading balance owed to iberia by the Group amounted to £24 million (2010 £6 milion}
Other associates

There was a remaining net trading balance under £1 million as at 31 December 2011 due to transactions between the Group and Dunwoody Arline
Services (Holdings) Lymited (2010 under £1 million)

Subsidianies

Transactions with subsidianes are carned out on an arm's length basis Qutstanding balances that relate to trading balances are placed on inter-
company accounts with no specified credit period Long-term loans owed to and from the Company by subsidiary undertakings bear market rates of
interest in accerdance with the inter-company loan agreements

Directors’ and officers’ loans and transactions

No loans or credit transactions were outstanding with Directors or officers of the Company at 31 December 2011 or arose durning the year that need
to be disclosed in accordance with the requirements of Sections 412 and 413 to the Companies Act 2006

In addition to the above, the Group and Company alsc have transactions with related parties that are conducted in the normal course of airlme
business These include the provision of airhne and related services

Neither the Group nor Company have provided or benefited from any guarantees for any related party raceivables or payables During the year
ended 31 December 2011 the Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2010 Emil)

Compensation of key management personnel {(which includes the Directors and Leadership Team of the Group)

Group Company

12monthsto  AMine months ro 12 months ta Nine months to

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 Dacember

£ million 20M 20i0 201 2010
Short-term employee benefits 5 3 s 3
Share-based payments 3 ! 3 H
At period end 8 4 8 4

A management fee in respect of the Group's apportionment of services provided by the Directers and Leadership Team of IAG 1s included within
purchases from parent above

36 Post balance sheet events

On 22 December 2011, the Company entered into a binding agreement with Deutsche Lufthansa AG (Lufthansa) for the acquisition of the shares of
Briish Midland Limited (brmi) for consideration of £1725 millon Uinder the agreement £60 million of the purchase price will be paid n four
instalments to Lufthansa pre-completion At 31 December 2011 one instalment of £15 million has been paid, with the remaining three instalments
totalling £45 mitlion disclosed within capital commitments

The acquisition 1s expected to complete dunng the first half of 2012, subject ta regulatory clearance from the European Cemmussion and other

bodies Under the terms of the agreement the Company is able to pay a termination fee of £10 million If phase one EU regulatory approval is not
achieved by 31 March 2012, and either party elects to terminate the agreement.
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37 Foreign currency transiation rates
At penod end Average
31 December 37 December 12 month Nine month
average average
£1 equals 2011 2010 201 2010
us dollar 156 155 160 154
Euro 120 118 115 1ig
122 130 128 i34

Japanese yen
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Operating and financial statistics

12 months to  Mine months to

31 December 31 December 12 montis ta 31 March
Total Group operations (note 1) 201 2010 2010 2009 2008*
Traffic and capacty
Revenue passenger km (RPK) m 17,348 81977 110,851 114,346 178,395
Avaitable seat km (ASK) m 150,152 104415 141178 145504 149576
Passenger load factor % 782 785 785 770 791
Cargo tonne km (CTK) m 4,793 3478 4,537 4638 4882
Total revenue tonne km {RTK) m 16,597 N736 15588 16,054 16,797
Total available tonne km {ATK) m 22,849 15973 21278 22293 22872
Overall load factor % 726 735 733 720 734
Passengers camed ‘000 34,250 24088 1825 Nz 34613
Tonnes of cargo carried ‘a0 785 570 760 777 805
Revenue aireraft km m 657 67 618 644 644
Revenue flights ‘000 275 197 257 279 281
Operations
Average manpower equivalent (MPE) 36,164 35778 J7595 41473 41745
RTKs per MPE 4589 280 4146 3871 H024
ATKs per MPE 6318 446 4 5660 5375 5479
Aurcraft in service at year end 245 240 238 245 245
Aurcraft ytilisanon (average hours per aircraft per day) 1113 048 1043 1068 o9
Unduplicated route km 000 656 £30 628 &21 629
Punctuality = within 15 minutes % 83 7& 81 7 63
Regularity % 993 929 980 986 882
Financial
Passenger revenue per RPK p 743 711 6 30 685 642
Passenger revenue per ASK p 581 558 494 528 508
Cargo revenue per CTK p 15 42 1527 1212 1451 1257
Average fuel pnce (US cents/US gallon) zn 22264 189 24 28406 24526
Interest cover (nate 2) umes 63 25 29 (36} 54
Dividend cover tmes n/a n/a n/a (55} n/a
Qperating margin (note 3) % 52 57 29 {Z24) oo
Earmings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and rentals (EBITDAR) m 1,274 1024 642 645 1780
Net debt/total capital ratto (note 4) % 408 455 520 563 287
Net debt/total capital rane including operating leases % 485 551 631 628 382
Total traffic ravenue per RTK p 5700 54.2r 4831 53200 48 91
Total traffic revenue per ATK p 41 40 3983 3539 3817 3582
Total operating expenditure per RTK [note 5} p 5705 5403 5276 5738 46 91
Total operating expenditure per ATK (note 5) p 41 44 3970 3865 4132 34 45

* Restated for the adopuon of IFRIC 13 and 14 and to include frequent flyer passenger numbers
** EBITDAR calculated as Earnings before Interest Depreciation Amortisation and Aircraft lease costs
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Operating and financial statistics continued
Notes

1

2

Operating statistics do not include those of associate undertakings and franchisees

interest cover 15 defined as the number of times profit before tax excluding net interest payable covers the net interest payable Interest cover
15 not a financial measure under IFRS However, management belteves this measure 15 useful to investors when analysing the Group's ability to
meet its interest commitments from current earmings The following table shows a reconciliation of net interest payable for each of the two
most recent financial years

12 months to MNine months to

31 December 37 Decemnber
£ million {except ratios) 20m 2010
Profit before tax 679 157
Net interest payable (a) (129) 107}
Profit adjusted for interest payable (b} 808 264
Interest cover (b)/(a) 63 25

Operaung margin 1s defined as operating profit as a percentage of revenue Revenue compnses passenger revenue (scheduled services and non
scheduled services), cargo services and other revenue

Net debt as a percentage of total capital Net debt s defined as the total of loans, finance leases and hire purchase habilities, net of short-term
loans and deposits and cash less overdrafts See note 22 to the financial statements for detals of the calculation of net debt Total capital 1s
defined as the total of capital, reserves, non-controlling interest and net debt Total capital and the net debt/total capital rauo are not financal
measures under IFRS Similarly, net debt adjusted to include obligations under operating leases 1s not a financial measure under IFRS However,
management believes these measures are useful to investors when analysing the extent to which the Group s funded by debt rather than by
shareholders’ funds The following table shows a reconciation of total capital to total shareholders’ funds and the net debt/capital ratio for each
of the two most recent financial years

12 months to Nme months to

31 December 31 December
£ mithon {except ranos) 2011 2010
Capital and reserves 2,582 2200
Add non-controlling inzerests 200 200
Total shareholders equity 2782 2400
Net debt (a) 1914 2007
Total capital {b) 4,636 4401
Net debt/total capial percentage (a)/(b) 408 455

Total expenditure on coperations, total expenditure on operations per RTK and total expenditure on operations per ATK are not financial
measures under IFRS However, management believes these measures are useful to investors as they provide further analysis of the
performance of the Group’s main business acuwvity, namely arline operations The Board of Directors reviews these measures internally on a
monthly basis as an indication of management’s performance n reducing costs The following table shows a reconcilation of total expenditure
on operations per RTK and total expenditure on operations per ATK for each of the two most recent financial years

12 months to 31 Nine months to

December 31 December
£ million (except ratios) 201t 2010
Total expenditure on operations 9,469 6,347
RTKs 16,597 1736
ATKs 22,849 15,973
Total expenditure on aperations per RTKs (p) 5705 5403
Total expenditure on operations per ATKs (p) 41 44 3970
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Fleet Table
Number in service with Group compantes at 31 December 2011
On Balance Off Balance Changes Future
Sheet Sheet Total Total since deliveries Options
hixed assets operaung December  December December {note 7) (note 8)
leases 20N 2010 2010
AIRLINE OPERATIONS {note 1)
Awrbus A318 2 2 2
Airbus A319 31 2 33 33
Airbus A320 (note 2) 28 12 40 40 1 31
Airbus A321 11 11 i
Airbus A380 12 7
Boeing 737-400 19 19 79
Boeing 747-400 (note 3} 52 52 50 2
Boeing 757-200 (note 4) 1 2 3 4 (1}
Boeing 767-300 21 21 21
Boeing 777-200 41 5 46 46
Boeing 777-300 (note 5) 4 1 5 3 2 3 2
Boeing 787 24 28
Embraer E170 [ 6 &
Embraer E190 (note 6) 7 7 5 2 16
GROUP TOTAL 223 22 245 240 5 50 84
Note

1 Includes those operated by British Airways Plc, BA Cityflyer Limited and OpenSkies SASU  Excludes six Avro RJ100 arcraft, previously sub-

leased to Swiss, returned to lessor during the year

2 Includes three Awbus A320 aircraft delivered during the year Three Airbus A320 aircraft were returned to lessor during the penod Certain
future Awbus deliveries and options include reserved delivery positions, and may be taken as any A320 family aircraft

3 Excludes three Boeing 747-400 aircraft, temporanly stood down out of service Two Boeing 747-400 returned to service during the year

4 Excludes two Boeing 757-200 arcraft previously stocd down in advance of sale One Boeing 757-200 was stood down 1n the year Five
Boeing 757-200 aircraft were sold to a cargo carner dunng the year

S Includes two Boeing 777-300 awrcraft delivered in the year

6 Includes two Embraer 190 aircraft delivered in the year

7 Future delivenes have decreased by five Three Airbus A320 aircraft, two Boeing B777-300 aircraft and two Embraer E190 arcraft were

delivered during the year Two options were converted to firm orders for two Boeing 777-300's
8 Options have decreased by two Boemg B777-300's converted to firm orders during the year
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Principal investments
At 31 December 2011

Investments in subsidiaries

The following table includes those principal investments which significantly impact the results or assets of the Group

These subsidiaries are wholly-owned except where indicated

Principal activities-

Country of
incorporation and
registration and
pnncipal operations

BA and AA Holdings Limited Holding company England
BA Cityflyer Limited Aurline operations England
BritAir Holdings Limited Holding company England
Briish Airways 777 Leasing Limited Aurcraft financing England
Briush Airways Avionic Engineering Limited Awrcraft maintenance England
British Airways Ejets Leasing Limited™ Aircraft finanang Bermuda
Briush Airways Holdings Limited Aurhne finance Jersey
British Airways Holidays Limited Package holidays England
British Airways Internior Engineenng Limited Aurcraft maintenance England
Briush Airways Leasing Limited Aurcraft financing England
British Airways Maintenance Card(ff Limited Aurcraft mamtenance England
OpenSkies SASU* Airline operations France
Speedbird Cash Management Limited Investment Bermuda
Speedbird Insurance Company Limited Insurance Bermuda
The Mileage Company Airline marketing England
The Pimsoll Line Limited Holding company England
Investments in associates

Country of

Percentage of
equity owned

Principal activities

Incorporation and
principal operations

1B Opco Holding SL*

1355

Airline operations

Spain

Available-for-sale investments

Percentage of
equity owned

Principal activities

Country of
incorpeoratien and
principal operations

Comarr Limited*
Flybe Group Plc*

International Conschdated Airlines Group S.A.

The Awrline Group Limited

10
146
03
67

Aurline operations
Atrline operations
Asrline operations
Aur traffic control
holding company

South Africa
England
Spamn
England

* Not owned directly by British Airways Plc
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Glossary

Aurline operations

Available seat kilometres (ASK}

Awvailable tonne kilometres (ATK)

Cargo tonne kilometres (CTK})
Dividend cover
EBITDAR

Frequent flyer RPKs as a percentage of total RPKs

Interest cover

Load factor
Manpower equivalent

Merger effective date
Net debt

Net debt/total capital ratio

Net debt/total capatal ratio (iIncluding operating
leases)

Operating margin
Qverall load factor

Passenger load factor

Punctuality

Regularty

Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK)

Revenue per ASK
Revenue per RPK

Revenue tonne kilometres (RTK)
Toial capital

Total group revenue per ASK
Total traffic revenue per ASK
Total traffic revenue per ATK
Total traffic revenue per RTK
Unduplicated route kilometres

n/a

This includes British Airways Plc, BA Cityflyer Limited, Flyline Tele Sales & Senvices GmbH and
OpenSkies SASU

The number of seats available for sale muluplied by the distance flown

The number of tonnes of capacity avaifable for the carriage of revenue load (passenger and
cargo) multiphed by the distance flown

The number of revenue tonnes of cargo (freight and mail} carned muluphed by the distance flown
The number of tumas profit for the year covers the dwvidends paid and preposed .
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and rentals

The amount of frequent flyer RPKs expressed as a percentage of total RPKs 1s indicative of the
proportion of total passenger traffic that s represented by redemption of frequent flyer points in
the year

The number of umes profit before taxation and net interest expense and interest Income covers
the net interest expense and interest income

The percentage relationship of revenue load carned to capacity available
Number of employees adjusted for part-time workers, overtume and contractors

21 January 2011, the date British Airways and Ibena signed a merger agreement to create
International Airhnes Group

Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements net of other current interest-bearing
deposits and cash and cash equivalents less overdrafts

Net debt as a rauo of tota! capital

Net debt as a ratio of total camtal, adjusted to include the discounted value of future operating
lease commitments

Operating profit/(loss) as a percentage of revenue
RTK expressed as a percentage of ATK.

RPK expressed as a percentage of ASK

The industry's standard, measured as the percentage of flights departing within 15 minutes of
schedule

The percentage of flights completed to flights scheduled, excluding flights cancelled for
commercial reasons

The number of revenue passengers carried multiplied by the distance flown

Passenger revenue divided by ASK
Passenger revenue divided by RPK.

The revenue load in tonnes multiphed by the distance flown

Total equity plus net debt

Total group revenue divided by ASK

Revenue from total traffic divided by ASK

Revenue from total traffic dwvided by ATK

Revenue from total traffic divided by RTK.

Ali scheduled flight stages counted once, regardless of frequency or direction

Not applicable
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Subsidiary Undertakings

List of subsidiary undertakings for British Airways Plc as at 31 December 2011
The hotdings disclosed concern ordinary shares unless otherwise stated

Name of company

Country of
ncorporation

Avios Group (AGL) Limited (formerly Air Miles Travel Promotions

Lirmited) England
BA and AA Holdings Limited Engtand
BA Call Centre India Private Limited (callBA) . Inda
BA Cityflyer Lirmted England
BA European Limited England
BritAir Holdings Limited England
British Awrways (Espafia) Limited England
British Airways (European Operations at Gatwick) Limited England
British Airways 777 Leasing Limited England
British Airways Associated Companies Limited England
British Airways Avionic Engineenng Limited Engtand
Brinsh Airways Capital Limited Jersey
British Airways Ejets Leasing Limited Bermuda
British Airways Employee Benefits Trustees (Jersey) Limited Jersey
British Airways Holdings BY Netherlands
British Airways Holdings Limited Jersey
Brituish Airways Holidays Limited England
British Airways Intenor Engineening Limited England
British Asrways Finance (Jersey) Limited Partnership Jersey
British Airways Leasing Limited England
Briush Airways Maintenance Cardiff Limited England
Brnitish Airways Pension Trustees (No 2) Limited England
British Airways Plc Employee Share Ownership Trust lersey
British Airways Regional Limited England
British Caledonian Asrways Limited England
Bntish Caledonian Group Limited Scotland
Caledoman Aviation Investments Limited England
Deutsche BA Holding GmbH Germany
Flyline Tele Sales & Services GmbH Germany
Hhad Inc USA
OpenSkies Aviation Limited England
OpenSkies SASU France
Overseas Air Travel Limited England
Remotereport Trading Limited England
Speedbird Cash Management Limited* Bermuda
Speedbird insurance Company Limited Bermuda
Speedwing International Limited England
Teleflight Limited England
The Mileage Company Limited England
The Phmsoll Line Limited England
Associated holdings

Percentage of Country of
Name of company equity owned Incorporation
Dunwoody Arrline Services (Holdings} Limited 40  England
1B Opco Holding SL 1355  Spamn
Significant holdings

Percentage of Country of

Name of company equity owned

incorporation

oneworld Managemant Company Inc

2556

USA

* Has ordinary and non-redeemable preference shares
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